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To Qur Shareholders,

The year 2012 exemplified one of the greatest strengths

of our company, namely its diversity. | am pleased that our
revenues and adjusted earnings per share surpassed our 2008
historical peak, driven by a record year for our Railroad and
Utility Products and Services business and significant earnings
improvernent from our Chinese operations. However, these
results were not achieved without overcoming significant
challenges. First, the aluminum industry had slower growth
than was initially anticipated with an estimated four percent
increase in global consumption compared to ten percent
growth in 2011. This reduced growth rate was reflected in
lower aluminum prices and further capacity reductions in
Europe and Australia that negatively impacted our carbon
pitch volumes. Second, the European recession, combined
with the smelter closures mentioned earlier, affected our
financial results for the year. Finally, as a result of lower global
steel production, our higher coal tar raw material costs had

a negative impact on profit margins of several products.
Fortunately, the diversity of our geographic locations, our
products, and our end-markets ultimately resulted in a record
year for the company.

Our global Railroad and Utility Products and Services segment
had a record year for both sales and operating profit as a
result of strong end-market demand and significant progress
in implementing our margin improvement initiatives. During
the year, we renewed two large Class | sales contracts
through 2017, shipped a substantial crosstie export order

to Brazil, improved our product mix by increasing sales of
our valued-added products, increased our investrment in our
plants to boost productivity and consolidated the production
of our Grenada, Mississippi wood treating facility to other
facilities that should provide future cost savings. On the
utility side of the business, our Australian pole business

had a successful year with increased sales and operating
profit over 2011 and in November, acquired a Western
Australian pole business that will generate $15-20 million

of annual sales. Additionally, our pole business in the

United States benefited from the Grenada, Mississippi plant
consolidation and the emergency response business from
the Hurricane Sandy disaster.

Regarding growth initiatives for the Carbon Materials and
Chemicals segment, in October, we entered into a joint
venture agreement with the Yizhou Group to construct our
third tar distillation plant in China, which we expect to be
completed in the second quarter of 2014. Through long-term
contracts, the 300,000 ton distillation plant will be part of

a carbon chernicals complex where our joint venture will
supply carbon pitch for needle coke production and carbon
black feedstock for carbon black production to the adjacent
facilities of Nippon Steel Sumikin Chemical Company.

(13 Reconciliations of adjusted operating profit and adjusted earnings per share (o the

appropriate GAAP amounts can be found on page 95 of this annual report
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We anticipate annual sales to be $150-$200 million. The
needle coke is a new end-market for Koppers that will
also provide future growth opportunities in other related
carbon products.

During 2012, we generated sufficient free cash flow to
finance the acquisition of the Australian pole business,
increase our dividend by nine percent, buy back 200,000
shares of our common stock for $6.4 million, and fund our
pension plans by $7 million more than the minimum funding
requirement as well as reduce our net debt. In February
2013, we announced a four percent increase of our quarterly
dividend. We concluded the year with total liquidity of $365
million and one of the highest dividend yields relative to our
peers. As we-enter 2013, we are well positioned to capitalize
on the growth opportunities that lie ahead, and we will
continue to focus on investing cash back into our businesses.

Our consolidated adjusted operating profit for the year 2012
increased by seven percent to $130 million and adjusted
earnings per share increased by 14 percent to $3.27 per
share corpared to the prior year™”. | am pleased with the
improvement of both the top and bottom lines in 2012,

and | am confident that we are positioned to show further
improvement in our core business in 2013.

Our employees and the Koppers cufture are the foundation
of our success. In 2012, our strong commitment to safety,
health, and the environment resulted in another year of
improved performance for the company. As a new member of
the American Chermistry Council, we will continue to focus on
our goal of zero incidents with our safety and environmental
performance and become a more sustainable company.

In closing, | would like to thank our Board of Directors for
their continued guidance and support. In particular, | would
like to acknowledge the outstanding service over the past
six years that we have received from our Director and Audit
Cominittee Chairman, Jim Stalder, who will retire from our
Board this May. | also want to thank you, our shareholders,
for the trust you have placed in our management team and
our ability to generate shareholder value. Itis a trust that
we take seriously and one that we will endeavor to earn
every day as we continue to move our company forward 1o
a bright future.

Sincerely,

M \ﬁwwg

Walter W. Turner
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This report-and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain "“forward-loaking staterments” within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and may include, but are notlimited o, statements about sales levels,
restructuring, profitability and anticipated expenses and cash outflows. All forward-looking statements'involve risks and
uncertainties. All statements contained herein that are not clearly historical in nature are forward-looking, and words such as
“pelieve”, "anticipate” - "expect”, “estimate”, “may”, - "will”, “should”, “continug", “plans”, “intends”; “likely” or other
similar woxds or phrases are generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statement
contained herein, in press releases, written staternents or other documents filed with the SEC, or in'dur communications with
and discussions with investors and analysts in the normal course of business through meetings, phone calls and conference calls
are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and contingencies. Many of these risks, uncertainties and contingencies
are beyond our control, and may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated results,
performance or achievements. Factors that might affect such forward-looking statements include, among other ?hmgs

"o wld i

#general economic.and business conditions;

i ’demand for our goods and services; ’ _

« availability of and fluctuations in the brices\o\f,‘t\;ey raw materials, including coal tar and timber;

= competitive conditions inthe industries in which we operalie; |

= the ratings'on our debt and our ability to repay or refinance our outstanding indebtedness as it matures;
= our ability to operate within the limitations of our debt covenants;

= interest rate fluctuations and other changes in borrowing costs;

= other capital market conditions, including foreign (:urf'ehizy rate fluctuations;

» economic and political conditi ons in international markets, including governmental changes and restrictions on the ability to
transfer capital across-countries:

= potential impairment of our goodwill and/or long-lived assets:
= parties who are obligated to indemnify us for legal and environmental fiabilities fail to perform under their legal obligations;

= changes in laws, including increased tax rates, regulations or accounting standards, third-party relations and approvals, and
decisions of courts, regulators and governmental bodies,

» the effects of competition, including locations of competitors and operating and market competition
= ynfavorable resolution of litigation against us; and
* the other factors set forth under “Risk Factors.”

We caution you that the foregoing fist of important factors may notcontain all of the material-factors that are important to you.
In addition, in light of these risks and uncertainties, the matters referred 1o in the forward looking statements contained in this
report and the documents incorporated by reference herein may not in fact occur. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward looking statement as a tesult of new i rzformat ion, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise
required by law.

PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

In this report, unless otherwz’se* noted or the context otherwise requires, (i) the term “Koppers”; “Koppers Holdings?, the

“Company”, “we’ or “us” refers to Koppers Holdings Inc. and. its consolidated subsidiaries, (ii): the term “KH refers to Koppers
Holdings Inc. and not &ny of its subsidiaries and (iii) the term "KI” refers to Kappe/s Inc. and noz‘ any of its subsidiaries. Koppers
Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Koppers Holdings Inc. Kc;ppers Hol qus Inc. has substantia ity no operations independent of
Kopperslric:and its subsidiaries: The use of these terms is not inténdedto-imply that Koppers Holdings and Koppersinc: are not
separate and distinct legal entities from each other and from their respective subsidiaries.
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Koppers Holdings Inc

Carbon Pitch

Carbon pitch is a critical raw material used in the production of aluminum and for the production of steel in electric arc
furnaces. Approximately one ton of carbon pitchis required for every 10 tons of aluminum produced and there are currently no
known viable substitutes for carbon pitch inthe aluminum production process, Over 90 percent of our carbon pitch is sold to
the aluminum industry; typicatly Under long-term contracts ranging from- three 1o five years. Many of these long-term contracts
have provisions for periodic pricing reviews. We have beer a laatling supplier of carbon pitch o the aluminum industry for over
20 years, and we believe we are the largest producer.of carbon pitch-fordhe aluminum industry.-Competitive factors in the
carbon pitch. market include price, quality, service and security of supply, We believe we have a competitive advantage based on
our global presence and long-term raw material supply contracts, /

Naphthalene & Phthalic Anﬁydride

Chemical oils are further processed to produce naphthalene which we sell into the industtial sulfonate market for use as
dispersants or in the concrete additive and gypsum board markets. Additional end-uses.include oil field additives, agricultural
emulsifiers, synthetic tanning agents and dyestuffs. In the United States, we also use naphthalene as a feedstock in the
manufaature of phthalic anhydride. The primary market*; for phihahc ar\hydnde are in the production of plasticizers, unsaturated
polyester resins, and alkyd resins. We believe our ab:frty to utilize our internally produced naphthalene gives us a more stable
supply and genera!iy lower-cost feedstock for the production of phthalic anhydride compared to our competitors.

Creosote & Carbon Black Feedstock

In the United States, creosote is used as a commercial wood treatment chemical to preserve railroad crossties and lumber, utility
poles-and piling. The majority of our domestically produced creosote is sold to our Railroad & Utility Products business. In
Australia, China and Europe, creosote is sold primarily into the carbon black market for use as a feedstock in the production of
carbon black. In Europé and China creosote is also sold to wood treaters. Qur wood treating plants inthe United States
purchase substantially all of their creosote from our tar distillation plants: We believe we are the only major competitor in this
market that is'integrated in this fashion. The remainder of our crepsote is'sold to railfoads and other wood treaters.

Other Products
Other products include the sale of refined tars, benzole and specialty chemicals,

Our CM&C business manufactures its primary products and sells them directly to our global customer base under long-term
contracts or through purchase orders negotiated by our regional sales personnel and coordinated through our global marketing
group in the United States. We believe we have a strategic advantage over our competitors based on our ability to-access coal
tar frorm many global suppliers. Our nine coal tar distillation facilities including joint ventures and four carbon materials terminals
give us thé ability to offercustomers multiple'sourcinganta consistent supply of high quality products:

Railroad & Utility Products

Our Railroad & Utility Products business ("R&UP") sells treated and untreated wood products, rail joint bars and services
primarily to the railroad and public utility markets in the United States and Australia. We also produce concrete crossties, a
complementary product 1o our wood treatment business; through'a joint venture in the United States.

Railroad products include procuring and treating items such as crossties, switch ties and various types of lumber used for
raitroad bridges and crossings. Railroad products also include manufacturing and selling rail joint bars, which are steel bars used
to join rails together for railroads. Utility products include transmission and distribution poles for electric and telephone utilities
and piling used in industrial foundations, beach housing, docks and piers. The R&UP business operates 13 wood treating plants,
arie rail joint bar manufacturing facility, one co-generation facility and 13 pole distribution yards located throughout the United
States and Australia. Our network of plants is strategically located near timber supplies to enable us to access raw materials and
service customers effectively. In addition, our crosstie treating plants are typically adjacent to our railroad customers' track lines,
and our pole distribution yards are typically located near our utility customers. \




Our R&UP business manufactures its primary products and sells thiem directly to our customers through-longstermg
sureh lers negotiated by obur regional sales personnel and coordinated through-our marketing group at corporate

od States, hardwood lumber is procured-by -u
westarn and southern argas of the iy T%‘ :

i fants el ofwhich are ondine
ficiallydried by & procasscal
sduct ot our CMRE bisiness:

sed viarail car or 1ruakﬁd mrecﬂj t{: one M our :
md ies are either air-stacked for a period of six to twelve
u& mu%io zig. x)f‘\.@‘ dited, the crossties are g}féssurs treated V\m“ crecsote, a

Ve belieye we aép *he ’arqos i ‘;uppiim mzirmad umﬂm in Nf“u th Ar‘rw;c‘:a ”‘her@ )f‘ze pr‘ﬂciraat o ’*w;itcar : rsd 5ey

CLStOMIeTS.

Our REUF Business’ farges
of-all-er &4 L
'»"hm’z*%éﬂﬁéf*ﬁ feglonial-rail *mm “'?
amature matket with aﬁ@ri}\@mpwiy 23 mithon re
currently ng:v@' i seven of the Morth Amencan Class | railroads and

st customer base is the North Am @r\mrz ass fm!road markei it‘h’bﬁyﬁ apgt@xtrmmiy a0 pfz“*rwr%‘t

Bl

Siorour ;o:nt baf pmducts The ra ma& crosshie markm
i’\nm wood and non-wood) ;)urcnased digring 2012 We
%»aw« contracts with sixof thsm ’

’i’iﬁ tor *&;raga {:rcxsstfa%s mm; aiws nm% m witer 1 W%“ :i 10 i%msriw%athaf csnéitifm{s W‘ﬂicﬁ,mam it a:a‘”*

Honsand a’iner %,fafgab%ss ah‘@at; figour ;:mm,sgm

ity polesare praduced mainty from softwoods such as pineinthe United States and-from hardwoods of the edcalybitus
sin Australia. Most of these ;;oim are pum mami or egrqe mhw owners and srdmdqa !andfmmera apds wsppsld o one

States the market mr utility pole ¢ )rmdum is dmrart@nyed bya Iarge number of srml! highly competitive

ling Into a price-sensitive industry, The utility pole marketis highly fragrented domestically, with over 200
sosdelectiic and 1:@!@;)%‘10(1@ utiities and 2 ﬁ@i} famaiiesr mubicipal utilities and rurat electric associations n fecent years
sase due 1o industry d@rersguimmrw its impact on maintenance programs, and

We expect dermantd for wtility poles to remair at low tevels n Aystralia, in addiing 1o
eaghicultural, landscape aﬁd vineyard rarkets.

We %‘*agfez;am;f‘fzber of mimﬁ{}a 5o pﬁt itors i the W5, wtility products market. There are few barrers 1o gntry in-the utility
products market which consists primarily of regional wood treating.companies operating small to meditinesizé plants and
servirig focal markets:

Equity Investments
otith Ol produces congrete crossties, & complementary product to our wood
osstie business: We own 50 percent of KSA, with the other 50 percent owned by subsidiaries of Heidelberg Cement
ited Partnetshio alsorprovides conerete Lur fm‘umwfmrxraaﬁ traffic switching and used crosstie rehabilitation.
ppers Kailuan Carbon Cherm !Comp",ny(”"mm”) is a coal tar distillation facility located in China i the Hebei

the Jingtang Port. We hold a 30 percent investrent in TKK, SR \ '




Keappers Holdings inc

Research and Development

Our research efforts are directed toward:-new product development regarding alternate uses for coal-tar and technical service
efforts to promote the use of creasote and vacuum-distilled carbon pitch. Expenditures forresearch-and development were $2:3
million, $1.9 million and $2.1 million, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Technology and Licensing

In 1988, we acquired certain assets from Koppers Company, Inc., including the patents, patent applications, trademarks,
copyrights, transferable licenses, inventories, trade secrets and proprietary processes used in the busmesses acquired. The most
important trademark acquired was the nare “Koppers.” The assodiation of the name with the chemical, building, wood
preservation and coke industries is bereficial to our company, as it represents long-standing, high quality products. As long as
wecontinue 1o use the-name-"Koppers™ and comply with applicable registration reguirements, our right to use the pame :
“Koppers” should continue without expiration. The expiration of 'other intellec tua property rights is not expect&d to materially
affect our business,

Backlog

Generally, Koppers does not manufacture its products against a backlog of orders, (rvemory and production levels-are typically
driver by expectations of future demand based on contractual obligations.

Seasonality

Demand for certain products may decline during winter months due to weather conditions. As a result, operating results may
vary-from quarter to quarter depending on the severity of wedther conditions and other variables affecting our products.

Segment Information

Please see Note 8, "Segment Information, - under tem 8.of this Form 10-K for financial information relating to business
segments and geograph c areas. See also “fem 1A, Risk Factors ~ Risks Related to Our Business — Demand for our products is
dyclical:and we may experience prolonged depressed market conditions for ourproducts.® %

Non-U.5: Operations

Koppers has a significant investment in non- s operations. Therefore we are subject to cermm risks that are inherent to
fcare!gn op@raﬂons ndudn q complylnq vv;th dpphccabl@ ldws relat mg ro v‘oretgm pmc‘uces th@ kaw& of foreign countries in which

Environmental Matters

Qur operations and properties are subject to-extensive federal; state, local and foreign.environmental laws and regulations
relating to protection of the environment and human health and safety, including those concerning the treatment, storage .and
disposal of wastes, the investigation and remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater, the discharge of effluents into
waterways, the emission of substances into the air, as well as various health and safety matters. Environmental laws and
requiat'om are subject o fre/quent amendm@m andhavet ‘Qtor'ca iy become more str'ng@m over time. W@ have incurred and
and reguiamns, mdudmg cleanup c@sts, cxw! and criminal peﬁait iesyinju nct ive mi ef and c}emc}i or imss of, or xmposmon of
significant restrictions on, environmental permits. In addition, we have been and could in the future be subject to suit by private
parties in connection with alleged violations of, or liabilities under, environmental laws and requlations. See "ltem 1A, Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — We are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations and may incur
stqnmcam costs as a result of continued compliance vvlth vxolatmm of or hdbthtl@‘% under environmental laws and regulations”
and Note 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, “Commitments and Cor tmgem Llcabtlmes




Employees and Employee Relations

Asof December 31,2072, we had 574 salaried employessand 1,080 nonsalaried empioyeer& L sied below is a breskdown ofi.
emplovess by oar businesses; including administration;

Busigss Sataried: Norrsak

Foral
Carbon Materials & Chemicals s ggh o 406 £91
Ralioat & Uiy Produets , . o 404 674 278
Administration ' e 6 9]

Eoployses i S?é;« 1,086 1,660

Of our employees, approximately 60 percent are represented by approdmately 15 dxﬁ'efer‘t abﬁr un@ns and are covered under
numerols labor agreements: The Upited Steelworkers of America curfently fepresent more than 250 of eur employees at sk ol
ot fac and, therefore, representsthe largest number of our unionized employees.

Internet Access

Our Internet address is wwiwvkoppers.com, Our recent filings on Form 10-K; 10-Q and 8-K and any amendments 1o those =
documents can be accessed without ch rge on our website under investor Relations - SEC Filings. The contents of ourinternet.
site-are ot incorporated by refersnce into this dotuinent,

HEM 1A, §§S§{ FACTORS

You 5:’3{214§3 ares‘uffy consider the risks described befow before nvesting in our publicly tfsded secunt;ﬂs t’.‘?u;* business is subject
to the sisks that affect imany other companies. Such as competition, technological cbsolestence; labor relations, general
economic conditions, geopolitical events and international operations.

Risks Raeiateci to Our Business

Conditions in the global économy and global capital markets may adversely affet:t our resuitf af operations, tinancial
condition and cash flows.

The 1.5 and global economy and capital markets have experienced significant uncertainties and volatility in the past few years,
Our business and operating results for the last four years were significantly affected by these global economic issues. Many of
aur st have experienced deter az'mmn mf rhexr b&)blﬁ@ ss during the mtest business cycle They may experi ienc awh ﬂmw‘
shortages and may have difficulty obtail 'una 4] namzzmg As a result, OUF CUs tc}mers; may dmy or cancel plans to purch 1ase Qw
producisang may rot e ableto fulfil i‘hew payment obligations to us in'a timely fashion. Our suppliers may be experiencing
similar conditions which could impact their ability to supply us with raw materials and otherwise fulfill their obligations to us. If
global economic conditions deteriorate significantly, there could be a material adverse effect to our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows: : :

o

I addition. we rely on our $300.0 million revolving credit agreement with a fonsormm of banks to Q?@Vid& us with ligquidity to
meet our working capital needs. At December 31, 2012, we had $290.0 million of available borrowing capacity under this
amm@mem Our enility o Tund our liguithty needs and working capitalrequirements could be impacted in the event that
disruptiont in the creait markets result 1o the banks being unable to fend to s uhder our re\fafvsng credit agreemenit

Globalecoromic saues could preventus from accurately forecasting demand forour products which could have'a material
effect on our results of operations and our financial condition, :

Adverse global ecoriomic issues, market instability ar nd volatile commaodity price fluctuations make it i nueasmg y ditficult for us,
s and ¢ aursuppiws 10 accural te«wiy forec.ast 'turm prmdtmt demands, which could cause us to ;:smme raw materials
in excess of end-produ demn and. This could mu,,eu a ma'tena! mcreaae to our mvsamory mrrymg costs and rﬁasu t in mthc}mf
inventory lower of cost or market charges. '




We may be required to recognize impairment charges for our long-lived assets. -

At December 31, 2012, the net carrying value of long-lived assets (’prdperty, piah't and eduipmenh goodwill, other intangible
assets and equity investments) totaled approximately $272 million: In accordance with generally accepted accoxjntmg principles,
we periodically assess these assets to determine if they are impaired. As recently as the year ended 2011, we recognized a
charge of $20 million related to a decision to close our Australian carbon black facility. Significant negative industry or economic
{rends, disrdptions to our business unexpected significant changes or planned changes in Use of the assets, divestitures and
market capitalization declines may result in impairments to goodwill and other long-lived assets. Future impairment charges
could significantly affect our results of operations in the periods recognized. Impairment charges would also reduce our
shareholder's equity and could affect compliance with the covenants in our.debt agreements.

We may not be able to compete successfully in any or all of the industry segments in which we operate.

The markets in. which we operate are highly competitive, ang this competition could harm:our business; results of operations,
cash flow and financial condition. If we are unable to respond successfully to changing competitive conditions, the dermand for
our products could be affected. We believe that the most significant competitive factor for our products is selling price. Some of
our conwpeti‘torg have greater financial resources ,zand,larger capitaliza‘tian th@n we cicp ,

Demand ior our products is cyclical and we may expenence prolonged depressed market conditions for our products.

Ourproducts are sold primarily in- markets which historically have been cyclical, such as the aluminum and specialty chemical.

* The principal consumers of our carbon pitch are primary aluminum smelters. Although the aluminum industry has
experienced growth on a long-term basis, there may be cyclical periods of weak demand which could result in decreased
primary aluminum production. Our pitch sales have historically declined during such cyclical periods of weak global demand
for aluminum.

* The principal use of /Qur phthalic ahhydride is in the manufacture of plasticizers and flexible vinyl, which are used mainly in
the housing and attomobile industries. Therefore, a decline in remodeling and construction or global automobile production
could reduce the demand for phthalic anhydride.

We are dependent on miajor customers fora significant partion-of our net safes, andthe loss'of one or more of our major
customers could result in a significant reduction in our profitability as a whole or the profitability of a particular product. For the
year ended December 31, 2012, ourtop ten customers accounted for approximately 40 percent of our net sales. During this
same period, our two largest customers each accounted for approximately eight percent of our total net sales.

Fluctuations in the price, quality and availability of our primary raw materials could reduce our profitability.

Our operations degend on an adequate supply of quality raw-materials being available on a-timely basis. The foss of a key
source of supply or a delay in shipments could cause-a significant increase in our operating expenses. For example, our
operations are highly dependent on a relatively small number of freight transportation services. We are also dependent on
specialized ocean-going transport vessels that we lease to deliver raw materidls to our facilities and finished goods to our
custorners. Interruptions in such freight services.could impair our ahility to receive raw materials and ship finished products in a
timely manner, We are also exposed to price and quality risks associated with raw material purchases. Such risks include the
following:

s The primary raw mdteﬂal used by our Carbon Materials & Chemicals business is coal tar, a by product Qf fumace coke
production: A shortage in the supply of domestic coal tar or a reduction in the quality of coal tar could require us to increase
coal tar and carbon pitch imports, as well as the use of petroleurn substitutes to meet future carbon pitch demand. This
could cause a significant increase in-our operating expenses if-we are unable to pass these costs on 1o our customers.
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ability and cost of softwood and hardwood Jumber are critical elements in our production of pm:\ produicts and

ossties respectivelyaHistotically, the sapplyand bet of hardwouod for rallroadicrossties iave been subject to
av&i’e’a&:ﬂ;w andl price pressures. We may et berabld to obitaln wood rawimatenals at sconomicalprices nthe futire:

e realizati m\ and profit marging for phthalic-anhydride have historicall y Iui:tua ted v ith tf price of orihoxylene and
'.,ghm o our-costto produce naphihalere: however, during periods of {XC@SS, Sugp&es of pmh anhydide,
s ey be reduced despite high levels for orthoxylene prices: :
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Gur products may be reridered obsm@t@ or less a‘{“{f&{“ti\/%«‘ %&y changes in requilatory, legis atave or mdxss&ry
requiremants. / ,
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-ah my (o mmamamp@t uve ‘Wen ray otk b‘e« 1 mmpiy in the
 that may be hecessary for us to remain competitive and cer iam uf aur *’)zoducrs may, asa rf‘suh become s%)SU ofe o
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The devel meem sf ﬁew technologies or changes in our customers’ products cou d reéuz& the demand forour
products.

are wsed fora mmty of applications by our customers, Changes in aur customers’ products or {*“}’*ﬂ;sm iay
,/s;cmcrs to reduce consumphion of the products we produce or make our pmaucb unnecassafy Cusiomers may
ve materials or wm@ﬂfsm that nolonger require our products.

Hazarils assoviated with chemical maﬁu%acmsmg may calise suspensions or interrtiptions of our operations:
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sopiging and storage tank leaks and ruptures;

sanical Tallire:

®gypeduie 10 hazardous substances, and
= chemical snills and Other discharges or réleases of 1oxic or hazardous wastes, substances of gases.

_among others, may cause personal injury and loss of life, damage to property and contamination of the
i uvmd‘ could lead to government Hines or work stoppage injunctions, cleanup costs and lavesuits by injured
sensy h;awe are unable to predict the outcome of such matters, iWdetermined adversely to us, we may not have adequate
Buratice to cover related costs or Habilities and i oot we may not ‘m\/@ sufficient cash flow to gay Tor such costs ot Habihties,
Such outctnies could hatm ourcustomer goodwill and veduce our profitability.

o

We-are ‘tﬂ;?{t to extensive envirorimental laws and regulations and may incur sxgnzﬁzafﬁ costs as arasultof
continued compliance with, violations of or liabilities under ervironmental laws and regulations.

Like other

tederal, st

things:;

tipanies involved in environmentally sensitive businesses, dur operations and properties are subject to extensive
e, local and forelgreenvironinental lavws and regulations, including those concerning the following, afmong other

traatment, storage and disposal of wastes,
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* the investigation-and remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater;

« the discharge of effluents into waterways;

* the emission of substances into the air;

* the marketing, sale, use and registration of our chemical products, such as creosote,

* the European Union'’s regulation under the Registration Evaluation Authorization and Restriction-of Chemicals, which .
requires manutacturers or. importers of substances manufactured orimported into the EU in.quantities of one tonne per year
ormore to register with-a central European Chemicals Agency, ‘and

* othermatters relating to environmental protection and vanous health-and safety matters:

We have incurred, and expect to-continue 1o incur, significant costs 1o comply with environmental laws and regulations and asa
result of remedial obligations. We could incur significant costs, including cleanup costs, fines, civil and criminal sanctions.and
claims by third parties for property damage and personal injury, as a result of violations of or liabilities under environmental laws
and regulations. We accrue for environmental liabilities when a determination can be made that they are probable and
reasonably estimable. Total environmental reserves at December 31, 2012 and Decernber 31, 2011 were $14.1 million and
$17.7 million, respectively, which include provisions primarily for environmental fines and remediation: For the last three fiscal
years, our annual capital expenditures in connection with environmental control facilities averaged approximately $5.1 million,
and annual operating expenses for environmental matters, excluding depreciation; averaged approximately $14.7 million.
Management estimates that capital expenditures in connection with matters relating to envirorimertal control facilities will be
approximately $9.9 million for 2013. Contamination has been identified and:is being investigated and remediated at many of
our sites by us of other parties. We believe that we will have conitinuing significant expenditures associated with compliance
with-environmental faws and regulations and, to-the extentnot covered by insurance or available recoveries under third:party
indemnification arrangements, for present and future remediation efforts at plant sites and third-party waste sites and other
liabilities associated with-environmental matters. There can be no assurance that these expenditures will not exceed current
estimates and will not have a-material adverse effect on our business, financial condition; cash flow and results of operations.

Actual costs and liabilities to us may exceed forecasted amounts, Moreover, currently unknown environmental issues. such as
the discovery of additional contamination or the imposition of additional sampling or cleanup obligations with respect to our
sites or third party sites, may result in significant additional costs, and potentially significant expenditures could be required in
order to comply with future changes to environmental laws and regulations or the intérpretation or enforcement thereof. We
also are involved.invarious litigation and proceedings r'e]atmg to erwironmemal matters and toxic tort claims.

Future climate change regulation could result in mcreased operating cos‘cs and reduced demand for our products:

Although the United States has rot ratified the Kyoto Pmtoco! a number of federaI iaws related to “greenhouse gas,” or
“GHG," ernissions are being considered by Congress. Add fitionally, vari ous federal, state and reqmndi regulations and initiatives
have been enacted or are being considered.

Member States of the European Union each have-an overall cap on emissions which are-approved by the European Commission
and implement the EU Emissions Trading Directive as commitment to the Kyoto Protocol. Under this Directive, organizations
apply to the Member State for an allowance of GHG emissions: These allowantes are tradable so'asto enable companies that
manage to reduce their GHG emissions to sell their excess allowances to companies that are not reaching their emissions
objectives: Failure to purchase sufficient allowances will require the purchase of allowances at-a current market price.

Legislation aimed at reducing GHG emissions by placing a cost on the production of GHG emissions was introduced and passed
by the Australian government in 2011. The legislation will be implanted Using a two stage approach. The first stage is a fixed
price carbon pricing mechanism which commenced on July 1, 2012 with & price that will be fixed for the first three years. The
second stage is a market-based emissions-trading arrangement commencirig on-July 1, 2015 where the carbon price will
transition from a fixed price to a market price.

Any laws or regulations that may be adopted to restrict or reduce emissions of GHGs could cause an increase to-our raw
material costs, could require us to incur increased operating costs and could have an adverse effect on demand for our
products.



Beazer East and Beazer Limited may not continue to meet’tfﬁeﬂr'rob!‘i'gwm’sfmiindémhi:fy s

atrearment between us am;i Koppers Company, inc. (now known as Beazer East lnc.)
Upon the formation of KIin 1988, subject to certain limitations, Beazer East and Beazer %;im‘rtmd’assumﬁd the !iah%‘\tv ‘fﬂsi and
indlernnified 15 against, among other things, tertain deancun | ': flities for contamination occurring prior 1o the purchas
sites acquired from Beazer E*m and certain thirdiparty claims arising from such contamination {the “Indemnity). Beazer Fmi
Jties of Heidelberg Cement AG) may not cantinue to meet their obligations. In
iticin. Beazer East could in the future choose to challenge its obligations under the Indemnity or our sa’ii%;%aﬁ*m of the
ditions 1o indemnification imposed an us thereunder. The government and other third parties may have the right under
wolicable environmental laws to seek relief directly from us for any and:ali such costs and liabilities. In July 2(}% we enieret]

irto an agreement with Beazer East'to amend the December 29, 1988 asset purchase ¢ greerent to pr‘oxs:de} among other

hings, for the continued tender of pre-closing environmental liabilities 1o Beazer East under the Indemni t\;ihrwgh July 2018,
As consideration for the agreement, we, among other things, paic o Beazer kast $7.0 million and agreed 1o share toxic tort
litigation defense costs arising from sxt@ﬁ au;u fed from Beazer East. Qualitied expenditures uﬂder the Indemnity are not subject
o a pranetany limit: \ : ' . :

Under the terms of the asset purchast

and Beazer Limited (which are indirect subsid
ad

The nder provides for the resolution of issues bmweam Kl cmd Bor‘ : r,\i«aa by an arbitrator on an expe ¢ j,bmig;‘umm tmf
request of either party. The arbitrator could be asked, among other things, to make a de:rerwndtmn rec
apvitonments h@spamm iities between Kl and Beazer bast. Arbz‘cm ion decisions under the Indemnity are fin,

%»9 parties: Periodically, issues have arisen between Kl and Beazer East and/or other mdemn tors that have befe

With Jmm;z‘:xﬂ:ratian From time to time, Kl and Beazer East have engaged in discussions that m\;ove among t:sﬂ'\e:* t,xmgs;, the

mmanm of environmental costs related to certain operating and closed facilities,

Without reimbursement under the indemnity. the obligation to pay the costs and assume the: liabilities relating to these matters
volid have agsgf’ufa:ant impact on our et income. Furthermore, without reimbursernent, we could be required to record a
c;csratzﬁgem_aa’ ity on our balence sheet with respect 1o envii ronmentalbm sicoverad by the lﬂdemmty wh{ h codldesiitin
e having A ficant negative net \Af@n%ﬂ inally, the tndemnity does fotatford u s indemnification against environmental costs
”$ habilities attributable to acts or omissions occurring after the ¢ ufr\g m‘ m@ ac qum‘uaﬁ stassers from Eém’i‘?‘ Fastunderthe
asset gwwhase agreement, noris t he lademnity applic sing in connection with other acquisitions by us after
that dosing.

&

The insurarice that we maintain may not full y cover. all potentia jal exposures.

We maintdin:property, c;assuaity, g@m@rai liability «md workers' wmpen sation insurance. but such insurance may not coverall
risks asse hed siness and is sibject to limitations, including deductibles and maximum liabilities. -
coveredd We ma imits, or ¢ CJH‘S!dE:? the coverage, of our insurance policies, including liabillties for -
eﬂszémrmwermé;xmm) jance and fewmdmto fir c)ddi“ﬂﬁfm fmmt e mmm@ vanow; fypes of rmuranc,e?or cor pamm inour
industry have not been available on commel clal 3v accep tabile terros or, in some cases, have not b&"é Y available @t all i the

y riot be able to obtain coverage at current levels, and our premiums may increase signifi §Ca’"i‘fi} Gncovetage that

flture, we
Yo thaintain

Adverse weather conditions may reduce our operating results.

S q&saﬁem @perat ﬂg fesuits fluctuate dL gtoavan m\/ of factors that are outside our control, including inclernent weather
¢ h a decline nour O;)&Hiﬂi} restilts. For example. adverse weather conditions have at
;}az;%sed our swp y chain as wet conditions impacted logging operations, reducing our ability to prociire
iitions have had anegative )*‘ﬂmﬁ 0N OUr CUStOMErs in. the pavement a@ai

L our sales of these products. Moreover, demand for maw of our products declings

We are mhg&vt torisks inherent in foreign opemtmm mc!udmg add:tmna éegai reguiaﬁon and cbamges in ﬁﬂﬂ!dl\ :
political and economic conditions. S : e

W have operations in the United States, Australia, China, the United kﬁin;‘\c;i‘é;fm‘i‘,\’th’é? Nethetlands and Denmark; antﬁ‘%«é‘il"am’\”
products in many foreign countries, For the year ended December 31, 2012, net sales from products sold by our foreign
subsidiaries accounted for approximately 37 percent of our total netsales.




Doing business on a global basis requires us to cornply with the laws and regulations of the .5 government and various
international jurisdictions. These regulations place restrictions on our-operations, trade practices and partners and investment
decisions. In particular, our international operations are subject to U5, and foreign anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as
the Foreign Corrupt Practi;eé Act, and economic sanction programs administered by the U.S. Treasury Depaﬁtment’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control. Violations of these laws and regulations may result in'civit of criminal penalties, including fines.

In-addition, as a global business, we are also exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates: Ourinternational revenues could be reduced by currency fluctuations or devaluations: Chéng% in
currency exchange rates could lower our reported revenues and could require us to reduce our prices to remmain-competitive in
foreign markets, which could also reduce our profitability. We have not historically hedged our financial statement exposure
and, as a result, we could incur unanticipated losses. We are also subject to potentially increasing transportation and shipping
costs associated with international operations. Furthermore, we are also exposed 1o risks associated with changes in the laws
and policies governing foreign investments in countries where we have operations as well as, to a lesser extent, changes in U.S,
laws and regulations relating to foreign-trade and investment:

Qur strategy to selectively pursue complementary acquisitions may present unforeseen integration obstacles or costs.

Our business strategy includes the potential dcqwsmon of busmes es and ertermg into joint ventures and other business
combmatlons ths\t we expect would complement and expamd our exsstmg pvoducts and the markets where we sell our
pmducts We may not be able to successfully den‘ufy suitable acqum ion or joint venture opportunities or complete any
particular acquisition, combination, joint venture or other transaction on acceptable terms, We cannot predict the timing and
sticcess of our effortsto acquire any particular business and integrate the acquired business into our existing operations. Also,
efforts to acquire other businesses or the implementation of other elements of this business strategy may divert managerial
resources away from our business operations. In addition, our ability to-engage in strategic acquisitions may depend on our
ability to raise substantial capital and we may not be able 10 raise the funds necessaryto implement our acquisition strategy on
terms satistactory to us, if at all. Our failure to identify suitable acquisition or joint venture opportunities may restrict our ability
to grow our business. In addition, we may not'be able 1o successfully integrate businesses that we acquire in the future, which
could lead to increased operating costs, a failure to realize anticipated operating synergies, or both. /

Litigation-against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend; and due to the nature of our businessand
products, we'may be liable for damages arising out of our acts or omissions, which may have a matenal adverse
affect on us.

We produce chemicals that require appropriate procedures and care to be used in handling them or using them-to manufacture
other products. As a result of the nature of some of the products we use and produce, we may face product liability, toxic. to t
and other claims relating to incidents mvo%vmq the handlmq, storage and use of and exposure to our products.

For example, we are a defendant in a significant number of lawsuits in which the plaintiffs claim they have suffered a variety of
illnesses (including cancer) and/or property damage as a result of exposure to coal tar pitch, benzene, wood treatment
chemicals and other chemicals. A further description of the material claims against Us'is included in Note 18 c:f the consolidated
financial statements.

We are indemnified for certain product liability exposures under the indemnity with Beazer East related to products sold prior to
the closing of the acquisition of assets from Beazer East. Beazer East and Beazer Limited may not continue to meet their
obligations under the Indemnity. In addition, Beazer East could choose to challenge its obligations under the Indemnity or our
satisfaction of the conditions to-indemnification imposed on us theretnder.

If for any reason (including disputed coverage or financial incapability) one or more of such parties fall to perform their
obligations and we are held liable for or otherwise required to pay all or part of such liabilities without reimbursement, the
imposition of such liabilities on us could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows and
results of operations. Furthermore, we could be required to record a contingent liability on our balance sheet with respect to
such matters, which could result in us having significant negative net worth,

In addition to the above, we are regularly subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business,
such as workers' compensation claims, governmental investigations, employment disputes, and customer and supplier disputes
arising-out of the conduct of our business. Litigation could result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention
and resources away from the day-to-day operation of our business,




Labor disputes could disript our operations and c:iwert the mmm:cm csf our managememt and may cause a dm mm m'f‘
our pre:;dumém anda reduction in out profitabili ty A , , !

Of ouren ees approximately 60 percent are represented by apmwzmately 15 diff erem labor unions and are cover o0 md;
aurmeraus labor agreements. The U 35‘5‘;@ s Sof America cur Ten atly regresent more than 250 of our employees at six of
oul faclities and therefore; reprasent the larg m% er of our ynionized employees. Every year, 4 mmhef of labor
Greaments areschedaled to sxpire, \/\/«\ ey zmr beable 1o reach new agreerments without union action or on ferms

actory 1o s, Any future fabor disputes with any such unions could result in strikes or other labor protests, which could
disript ot ﬁp&i’é’{fo"i and divert the attention of our managen .om from operating our business. If we were to experience a
strike or work stoppage, it may be di f? I for us to find asutlic number of employees with the nepessary sk i' w0 m; slace
these: m,m;weas ,&ﬁy cuch labor disputes could ca b ;isr@daa,tson and-a: zedact;oﬂ in qu profitabii
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Qur post ‘retirement obligations are currently underfunded. We expect to make ngnifi;aet cash payments to our
pension and other post-retirement plans, which will reduce the cash available for our busmessh

o) \,,wy fEb( ) million. ‘Durp@won psset iunqu to L(t)tfa!,perw«'m mbi gator dﬁQ was (39 nercmf
2012 The underfu mme fmam a! Thﬁkof that have u&l\%‘d h
assels iiour /d,

ined hcm\ at p%mum pi«am m b@ ﬂgmhcdmiy i@we
i addition, our obligati orw fm[ mher posf ret‘remem: ben@itobl ga lons are

lionatDecember 31,2012

Diring the vears ended December 31 2012 and December 31,2081 wa‘ contributed $22. 4 milhon and $16.4 r‘rﬁ%‘an
espectively, 1o our post-retirement hmrm plans With respect to our Li5: defined benefit pension plan which is our largest
san we had f?ufidé'f*g shligations ol $10.3 millonin 2012 Weestimate ww mantlatory tunding for this plaiw brs%
approximstely $7 million in 2013 and ovtm en %3, and $16 mitlion i 2014 unless legis d*n/a? chaag%s aceur

M anagement ex;sa&s J‘xat any future obligations ui mex our postaetirement benelit plans that are net cufremy funded will be

x rom our future cash flow from op h 5. 1Four contributions to our post-retirernent benefit plans are insufficient to
fund the postretirerment benefit plans adeguately to tover our future obligations; the performance of the assels in our pension
plans does niot mest our expectations or othier actuarial assumptions or mandatoty funding laws are modified, our contrbutions
to U post-retitenent henefit plans could be materially higher than we expect, thus red&zorm the cash available for our
buginess:

We may inc ur su;mhmnt charges in tha« event we close all cw part ofa manufacmrmg plant or facil lity.

We periodically assess our manufacturing opetations In order 1o mmufact ure-and distribite our pmdL ¢ts in the mast ef IIQ!E‘M
minnner. Based on our assessments, we i ake capital improvements to modernize certain unt . move maﬁufa(tun
distribution capabilities from one plant o iy to another plant or Tacility, discontinue m aﬂufdc‘mrmu or distributing certain
nraducts or close al or part of 2 man wing plantor ’F&L‘\‘ty&

We d@p&s& on aur senior mﬁhi’i@é’:iﬂ@ nt team and the loss of any member cou id adversely affect our operations.

Our suecess s dependent on the management, experience and leadership skills:of our senior management: team Qur senic

jert team has an average of aver 20 years of industry experience. The foss of any of these individuals or an inat my o
at retain and rmaintain additional pewr‘sgmw swith similar intustry experience could prevent us from implemer NG our
business strategy. Ve cannotassure you that we wil km able o retain our existing senior maﬁaqemem parsanr}ei or o attract
additional qualified personnel when needed.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

Qur stock price may be extremely volatile,

Thiere has been sigriticant volatility in the m\swk@i price and tmd ng yolume of wuwy securities, which is unrelated to the
financial performance of the companias issting the securities. These broad market ﬂuctuanons may negatw@iy affect the 3?1%:1“«;@”1
price of our common stock.
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Some specific factors that may have a significant effect.on-our.common stock market price include the following:
» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results or future prospects;

a the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC;

« strategic actions by:us or our competitors; such:as acquisitions or restructurings;
= new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;
» changesinaccounting standards, policies, guidance, intérpretations orprinciples;

« ‘adverse conditions in the financial markets or general economic conditions, including those resulting from war, incidents of
terroristn and responses to such events;

» sales-of common, stock by us, members of our management team or a significant sharebolder; and

= changes in stock market analyst recommendations or earnings estimates regarding ourcommon stock, other comparable
companies-or the aluminum or railroad industry geneiai!y

We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our company will continue to support an active trading market on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) or otherwise or how liquid that market will continue to be. If there does not continue
to be an active trading market for our common stock, you may have difficulty selling any of our common stock that you buy.

Future sales,or-the perception of future sales, of a substantial amount of our common stock may depress-the price of
the shares of our common stock.

Future sales, or the perception or the availability for sale in‘the public market; of substantial amournits of our common stock
could adversely affect the prevailing market pricecof our common steck-and coulddmpair our ability-to raise-capital-throughy
future sales of equity securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate:

We may issue shares of our common stock, or other securities, from time to time 'as consideration for future acquisitions and
investments We may also issue shares of our common stock, o other securities, inconnection withy employee stock -
compensation programs and board of directors’ compensation: In addition, we may issue shares of our common stock or other
secufities:inpublic.orprivate offerings-as part of our efforts to raise additional capital: In the event-any such acquisition,
investment, issuance under stock compensation programs or offering is significant, the number of shares.of our common stock
or the number or aggregate principal amount, as the case may be, of other securities that we may issue may in turn be
stqmﬂcant We may also grant registration rights covering those shares or other securities in connection with any such
acquisitions and investments. Any additional capital raised through the sale of our equity securities may dilute your percentage
ownership in us.

You'may not receive dividends because our board of directors could, in'its discretion; depart from or change our
dividend policy at any time.

We: are'not required to pay dividends;-and-our-shareholders are notguaranteed -and do nothave contractual rights; to-receive
dividends. Our board of directors may decide at any time, in its.discretion; to decrease the amount of dividends; otherwise
change or revoke the dividend policy or discontinue entirely the payment of dividends, Our board of directors could depart from
or change our dividend policy, for example, if it were to determine that we had insufficient cash to take advantage of other
opportunities with attractive rates of return or if we failed to reach a sufficient level of profitability. In addition, if we do ot pay
dividends, for whatever reason, your shares of our common stock could become less liquid and the market price of our
commbony stock could decline:

The ability of Koppers Inc. and its subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other payments or distributions to us will depend on our
operating results and may be restricted by, among-other'things, the covenants in Koppers Inc.'s revolving credit facility. Our
ability to pay dividends is also limited by the indentures governing Koppers Inc/'s outstanding notes as well.as Pennsylvania law
and may in the future be limited by the covenants of any future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur. If a
dividend.is paid in violation of Pennsylvania law, eaah director approving the dividend could be liable to the corporation if the
director did not act with such care as a person of ordmary prudence would use under similar circumstances. Directors are
entitled to rely in good faith on information provided by employees of the corporation and experts retained by the corporation.



Piractors whio are held liablewould be srtitied to contribution from any sharéhalders who recsived an unlawiul dividend
knowing it to be unlawful. Furthermore, we are & holding company with.no operations, and unless we receive dividends,
distributions, advances, transters of funds or other payments from our subsidiaries, we wil i be mab to pay di \/zdvmja G our
cotmrmpn slock '

provisions of our charter documernts may inhibite takeover, which could negatively affect our stotk price.

Provisions of-our charter docoments ang the Businass Corporation % aw of Pennsylvania, the state inwhich we are organized;
could discourage potential acquisition praposals ar raake it more difficult fora third party to acquire control of our company,
even if doing so might be beneficial to our shareholders. Our /\rmwisd and Restated Articles of incorporation (our “A

Articles of

incorporationrand Bylaws provide for various procedural and other reguirerents that could make it more difficult for

ers o effect certain corporate actions. For example, ou "es of Incorporation, authorize our bamd of directors to
Wirie the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of unissue s of preferred stock without any vote or action by
i shareholdars: Our hoard of directors can therefore guthorize and lssue shares of preferred stock with voting or conversion

rights that could adversely affect thevoting or other rights of holdersof our common stack: The following additional provisions

could make it more difficult for shareholders to effect certain corporate actions:

woCur board of directors-is classified iito tired. classes: Each director will serve a three-year term and will stanid for re-glection
ONee every three VEars.

Ol

s Quishareholders witl be able to remove directors.only for catise by the affirmative vote of the holders of amajority m‘ he
outstandindg shares of our capital stock entitled Wvote In the eléction ol directors Vacancies on ot boatd of directors iy
he filled oty by-our board of directors.

« Urider Pepmsyivania law, cumulative votin righls are available to the fiolders of bur common stock i our Articles of
intorgoration have pot nszw@d cumulative vci e Gur Articles of tncorporation provide that our shareholders do not nave
the right to curaulative votes in the n;iea:m:m of directers

- Our Achicles ofdricorporation donot p@vm" shareholder action without a-meeting by consentexceptforthe unanimous

snsent of all holders-of our-common stack, The Aricles of mecorporation also-provide that Special meetings of oy
sharehalders may be called only by the board of directors or the:chalrman of the board ot directors.

» - Our Bylaws provide that shareholders sesking to nominate candidates for election as directors or 16 bring business before an
annual mesting of shareholders must provide tirely totice of their proposal inwiiting to the corporate secretary.
These provisions may discourage acquisiion. proposals and may make it mare difficult or expensive for a third party to ez&:quirm
majority of our outstanding voting stock or may delay, prevent or deter a mwger, acquisition, tender offer or proxy contest,
which may negatively-affect our stock price.

Risks Relating to the Koppers Inc. 778% Senior Notes Due 2019 (the "Senior Notes”) and Other
indebtedness

e level of indebtedness colld Hmit cashHlovw available for suroperationsand could adversely affectour ability 1o
sepvicsour debt orobtaincadditional fimancing, if necessary.

We have and };yf%i! continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness. Our level of indebtedness could restrict our operations
and-make it more :d’ifﬁ;uit for usto-satisty our obligations undet the Senior Notes. Among other things, eur substantial
idebtedness could:

« - limitour ability to obtain additional
P ;31’:3?3,

nancing for working capital, capital expeéndi ture;, aceu :mons and general corporate

« make it iore mfu wlt-for us to satisfy eur finandial obligations, including those.with r‘@si}ac’t to the Senior Notes;

s our immb My £ ge«merm ac)vmw «»mncmuc and n“\duatry con xcﬁmc ns;

and other gemvai cory x:«mae purposes;



w limitour flexibility in-planning for, orreacting to, changes in-our business andthe markets in-which-we compete; and
« place.us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt.

In addition, the indentires governing the Senior Notes and Koppers Inc.’s revolving credit facility contain financial and other
restrictive covenants that willlimit'our ability to engage-in activities that may-be in our long-term best interests. Our-failureto
comply with those covenants could result in-an‘event of default which, if not-cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of
the repayment of all of our debts.

Despite current indebtedness levels, we may still be able to incur substantially more debt. Thiscould further
exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial leveérage.

We may.be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness. in the future. The terms of the Senior.Netes indenture and Koppers
Inc.'s revolving.credit facility. do-not fully prohibit us from doing-so. Koppers Inc.’s:$300.0-million revolyving credit facility permits
additional borrowing and all of those borrowings would rank:seniorto the Senior Notes and the guarantees to the extent of the
collateral securing such facility. In addition, the indenture relating to the Senior Notes will permit us to incur all of those
borrowings under Koppers Inc.’s revolving credit facility and substantial additional indebtedness, including additional secured
indebtedness: If. new debt is-added to our and our subsidiaries’ current debt levels, the related risks that we and they now face
could intensify,

To service our indebtedness, we will require-a significant amount of cash. Our-ability to generate cash depends on
many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make payments on and to refinance ourindebtedness, including the Senior Notes, and to fund planned capital
expenditures and research and development efforts will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. Although there
can be no assurances, we believe that the cash provided by our operations will be sufficient to provide for our cash
requirerments for the foreseeable future. However, our ability to satisty our obligations will depend on our future operating
performance and financial results, which will be subject, in part, to factors beyond our control, including interest rates and
general economic, financial and business conditions. We cannot assure you, however, that our business will genierate sufficient
cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our
indebtedness, including the Senior Notes, or to fund our other liquidity needs, If'we are unable to generate suff Cuent cash flow
to service our debt, we may be required to:

« refinance all'or a portion of our debt, including the Senior Notes;
« obtain additional financing;

= sell some-of our assets or operations;

» reduce or delay capital expenditures-and-acquisitions; or

= revise or delay our strategic plans.

if we are required to take any of these actions, it could have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition and
resuits of operations. In addition, we cannot assure you that we would be able to take any of these actions, that these actions
wauld enable-us to continue to-satisfy ourcapital requirements or that these-actions would be permitied under the terms of our
vatious debt instruments. -

The covenants.in-Koppers Inc.'s revolving credit facility impose restrictions that may limit our ability to take certain
actions. Qur failure to comply with these covenants could result in the acceleration of our outstanding indebtedness.

Koppers Inc.'s revolving credit facility contains minimum fixed charge coverage and maximum leverage ratios. Additionatly, the
facility includes covenants limiting liens, mergers, asset sales, dividends and the incurrence of debt. Our ability to borrow under
Koppers Inc.'s revolving credit facility will depend upon satisfaction of these covenants! Eventsbeyond our contral can affect
our ability to-meet those covenants.

If we are unable to meet the terms of our financial covenants, or if we break any of these covenants, a default could occur. A
default, if not waived, would entitle our lenders to declare all amounts borrowed under it tmmedsately due and payable, which
could a!sa cause the acceleration of obligations under certain other agreements, In the event of acceleration of our outstanding
indebtedness, there can be no assurance that we would be able to repay our debt or obtain new financing to refinance our
debt. Even if new financing is made available to us, it may not be on terms acceptable to us.




The Seriio Notes are unsecured arid are effectively subordinated toour current and future secured indebtedness:

?%‘“\‘W:‘t'ivﬁ*‘i‘y subordivated ol ohr clirrent sec

red indebtedness and any future”
GH e curingsuchindebtedness At December 3, 201 we

ol agreementand indenture governlng the Seniol Notes
ripeNotes danethave thesight 1o any sécurnily

RS 8re U 3L jz“{::x;‘gt anls
l,is*eﬁaes; fha( wamaineur tu‘i

&

permit us e ncur g substantialamoun
irterests i any coligteral.

) amomts due (’J any of all of the Senior Nc:rms
all halders « ﬂ)uf: secured indel ness that s de

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to finance the change of control offer required by tw
indenture or may be prohibited from making a repurchase offer required by the indenture.

imm mc\ sEcamrence of certain:specif kmds nf thamgea m‘ mntral @\/emts wewill be-requiredto offerto reépurchs
Sentor Notes at 101 ¢ g : o and unpaid *nkemu, it any; 1o ?*@
1 source of funds Tor Ii?‘léi‘i shor cash-generated from mppw § ‘
t g ssets or equity financin ;

s the required re;jwcnése of S@z‘
es. In addition; certain important corporate events, s

izations { hat woult increase the level of our ndelitedness, would not conatituie a change of tontolunder

Bibs %\iczg: indenture.

saswill aot ’ﬂave :ufﬂc eﬂ*:

ders of Senior Notes may not be able 1o determine when a change of control giving rise 1o ﬁ”kéh right to have the
Senior Notes repurchased by us has ocourred following a sale of “substantially all 1 of our assets,

as defined in the indenture governing the: Senior Notes; requires us-to make an offer-to repurchase all
Of Nme\ The definition of change of control includes a phrase relating ta the sale, ifsase ortranster of “allor
o‘f our assets, There is no precise established definition of the phrase “substantially all” under applicable faw:
ity of a h<:>ldn=r of Senior Notes to require usto repurchase its Senior Notes as'a result of a sale; lease of
valt of ou

ts to anather individual, group or eftity may be tncertain:

e an

The claims of holders of Senior Notes will be structurally subordinated to claims of creditors of any of Koppers ing’s
subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes. /

raries of Koppers Inc guarantes the S
110 certain limitations, the indentdr i
sets and incur additional indebtedness. Hoi
’a:mﬁ:;r'subsiciiaries 1o the gssets and
ifiirade creditors, banks and other le
ibsidiaries as equity holders of the non-

: zation; <:§%s5tpfu*ian or other winding=up of any of

) ol ke paid before any amounts would be distributed 4

Uity zf\dt s be available to >r3tnf\,’ e obligationsunder the SenjonNotes
ta@; A“("("d q1y there can be no assuran thm mym h@ a of he namgmran or subsidiaries will be

he oblig t,camn.; under thy Sénic.wj Notes anc Idition, Koppers Holdings has substantially

) 'pm of Koppers Inc. and its st zbwci:anes amd Lhc»ro an bc« no assurance that Koppers Hmidmgs will have
satisfy the obligations under its quamm@@\m of D@C@xmhm 312012, the non-g ntor subsidiaries ,‘mmg::i
ately $126 miis\m of liabilities (including trade | payables but excluding int ercompany indebtedness), ' e

Oy Koppern Holdingg-andthewhp
Senior \O s A not c;uerm’r@@tj ':-y :

fitiers, will
veranyiof %i’or}p@ri:, Ine
oty >ub—> diaziess Consequently, mvinsolyen
arantor subsi diarima creditors of those sut
@r (31.1&37‘&‘3!’)({}7'5 G580

f

A

avai &%%:}.y,
O Opele
any
Approx




Our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the Senior Notes accounted for approximately $582 million, or 37 percent of our net
sales and approximately $50 million, or 39 percent of our operating profit, for the year ended December 31, 2012, and
approximately $378 million, or 49 percent of our total assets as of December 31, 2012. Amounts are presented after giving
effect to intercampany eliminations.

Federal or state laws allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void debts, including guarantees, and could
require holders of Senior Notes to return payments recgived from guarantors.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by Koppers Moldings and the wholly-owned domestic restricted subsidiaries of Koppers:ing If
abankruptcy proceading or lawsuit were to beinitiated by unpaid creditors, the Senior Notes and the guarantees of the Senior
Notes'could come under review for federalor state fraudulent transfer violations. Under federal bankruptey law and comparable
pravisions of state fraudulent transferdaws, obligations under the Senior Notes or a guarantee of the Senior Notes could be
voided, or claims in respect of the Senior Notes or.a guarantee of the Senjor Notes could be subordinated to all other debts of
the debtor or that guarantor if, among other things, the debtor or the guarantor, at the time it incurred the debt evidenced by
such Senior Notes or guarantee:

s received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for the incurrence of such debt or guarantee;-and
»one of the following applies:
it was insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of such incurrence,
v [t was engaged in a business or transaction for which its remaining assets constituted unreasonably small capital; or
» it intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts beyond its ahility to pay such debts as they mature.
In.addition, any payment by the debtor or guarantor under the Senior Notes or guarantee of the Senior Notes could be voided

and reguired to be returned to the debtor or guarantor, as the case may be, or deposited in a fund for the benefit of the
creditors of the debtor or guarantor.

Therneasure of insolvency for purposes of thesefraudulent transfer laws will vary depending upon the faw applied.in-any
praceeding to determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, a debtor or a guarantor would be
considered insolvent if:

sthe'sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than the fair saleable value of all its assets;

= the present fair saleable value of its assets was less thanthe amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on
its existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or
» it could not pay its debts as they become due.
We cannot be sure as to the standards that a court-would:yse to determine whether or not a guarantor was solvent.at the
relevant time, or, regardless of the standard that the court uses, that the issuance of the guarantees of the Senior Notes would
not bevoided or subordinated to the guarantor's other debit. If a quarantee was legally challenged, it could also be subject to
the claim that, because it was incurred for our benefit, and only indirectly for the benefit of the guarantor, the obligations of

the guarantor were incurred-for less than fair consideration. A-court-could thus voidthe obligations under a-guarantee or
subordinate a guarantee to a guarantor’s other debt or take other action detrimental to holders of the Senior-Notes:

The trading price of the Senior Notes may be volatile.

The trading price of the Senior Notes could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to, among other factors, changes in
our operating results, interest rates, the market for non-investment grade debt securities, general economic conditions and
securities analysts’ recommendations, if any, regarding our securities.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.




ITEM 2, PROPERTIES
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in litigation and various proceedings relating to environmental-laws and tegulations; toxic tort; product liability
and othe tars. An adverse outcome for certain of these cases could result in a material adverse effect on our business, cash
flows and resilts of operations. The information related to legal matters set forth in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Koppers Holdings Inc. is hereby incorparated by reference.




ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets forth the names, ages and positions of our and Koppers Inc.'s executive officers as of February 6, 2013.
Our axecutive officers Hold their positions until the annual meeting of the board of directors or until their respective successors
are elected and qualified.

Name Age  Fosition

Walter W. Turner 66 President and Chief Executive Officer of Koppers Heldings Inc. and Koppers inc. and
Director of Koppers Holdings Inc.. and Koppers Inc.

Leroy M. Ball 44 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Koppers:Holdings Inc. and Koppers Inc.

James T. Dietz 56 Vice President, Global Business Services and Technology, Koppers Inc.

Joseph P. Dowd 52 Vice President, North American Carbon Materials & Chemicals, Koppers Inc.

Donald E. Evans 47 Vice President, European Operations, Koppers Inc.

Daniel R. Groves 46 Vice President, Human Resources, Koppers Inc.

Leslie’S. Hyde 52 Vice President; Safety and Environmental Affairs, Koppers Inc.

Steven R Lacy 57 Senior Vice President Administration; Gereral Counsel-and Secretary, Koppers Holdings

) Inc. and Koppers inc.

Thomas D. Loadman 58 Vice President and Genetal Manager, Railroad-and Utility Products & Services, Koppers'Inc.

Mark R. McCormack 53 Vice President, Australian Operations, Koppers Inc.

Brian H. McCurrie= 52 Senior Vice-President, Global Carbon Materials & Chemicals, Koppers Inc.

Markus G.-Spiess 52 Vice President, GlobalSales and Marketing, Global Carbon-Materials & Chemicals; Koppers
nc.

Louann E, Tronsberg-Deihle 49 Treasurer, Koppers Holdings Inc. and Koppers Inc.

1. Robin Zhy 48 -Vice President; China Operations, Koppers Inc.

Mr. Tuinér was elected President and Chief Executive Officer in, andhas been our'directorsince, November 2004. He has been
President and Chief Executive Officer and director of Koppers Inc. since February 1998, )

Mr. Ball was elected Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in August 2010, Prior to joining Koppers, Mr. Ball was Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Calgon Carbon Inc. (granular activated carbon products and treatment systems) since
2002.

Mr. Dietz was elected Vice President, Global Business Services and Technology of Koppers Inc., in May 2011 effective July 2011,
He joined Koppers in 1995 and has held positions in operations and engineering. Most recently, he was Vice President,
European Operations of Koppers inc., from January 2007 through june 2011,

Mr. Dowd joined Koppers Inc. and was elected Vice President, North American Carbon Materials & Chemicals, Koppers inc.
effective July 2012. Prior to joining Koppers, Mr. Dowd was General Manager and Vice President of North American Recycling
for Exide Technologies, Inc. (lead-acid battery manufacturing) from September 2010 to October 2011. Prior to that, Mr. Dowd
was Global President and Chief Operating Officer of Silberline Manufacturing (specialty chemicals) from March 2005 to October
2009.

Mr. Evans was elected Vice President, European Operations, in May 2011 effective July 2011, Mr. Evans had been previously
elected Vice President, Strategic Planning and Growth of Koppers Inc. in August 2010, and prior to that had been elected Vice
President, Global Marketing, Sales and Development, Carbon Materials & Chemicals of Koppers Inc. in January 2007. From
October 2004 through December 2006, Mr. Evans was Vice President for Advanced Recycling Systems (industrial equipment
manufacturing).

Mr. Groves joined Koppers Inc. and was elected Vice President, Human Resources in May 2011. Prior to joining Koppers Inc. in
May 2011, Mr. Groves was Senior Vice President — HR Business Partner at PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. (financial services)
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STC}CKHOLIBER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common shares are listed and traded on the NYSE under the symbol "KOP”.
The number of registered holders of Koppers common shares at Jantiary 31,2073 was 94,

See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements below for information concerning dividends and high and low market
prices of our cormmon shares during the past two years.

Dividend Policy

Cur board of directors adopted a dividend policy, which reflects its judgment that our shareholders would be better served if we
distributed to them, as quarterly dividends payable at the discretion of our board of directors, a portion of the cash generated
by our business in excess of our expected cash needs rather than retaining it or using the cash for other purposes. Our-expected
cash needs include operating expenses and working capital requirements, interest and principal payments on ourindebtedness,
capital expenditures, incremental costs associated with being a public company, taxes and ¢ertain other costs, On an annual
basis we expect to pay dividends with cash flow from operations, but, due to seasonal or othertemporary fluctuations in‘cash
flow, we may from time to time use temporary short=term borrowings to pay quarterly dividends:

We are not required to pay-dividends, and our shareholders will not be guaranteed, or have contractual or other rights, to
receive dividends: Our board of directors may decide, in its discretion, at any time, to d@f((ﬂa%‘ the amount of dividends,
otherwise modify or repeal the dividend policy or discontinue entirely the payment of dividends.

Because we are a holding company, substantially all the assets shown on our consolidated balance sheet are held by our
subsidiaries. Accordingly, our earnings and cash flow and our ability to pay dividends are dependent upon the garnings and
Cash flows of our subsidiaries and the distribution or other payment of such earnings 1o us in the form of dividends. Qur ability

o pay dividends is restricted by fimitations on the ability of our only direct subsidiary, Koppersinc,, 1o pay dividends, as'a result
of limitations imposed by Koppers Inc.'s credit agreement, the indenture governing Koppers Inc.’s 7 78% Senior Notes due 2019
(the “Senior Notes”) and by Pennsylvania-law. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations < Liquidity and Capital Resources - Restrictions on Dividends to Koppers Holdings.”

Equity Compensation Plans

Nurntier-of securities
aitable: for

remaining ¢

Number of securities

f0 be ssutd upon éxercise

of autstanding options,

Flan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 745,86200 $15.46 - 2:916,848W

(1) Includes shares of our common stock that may: be issued purstant to-outstanding options; time-based restricted stock units-and p@rfgnra:‘ce-based restricted
stock units awarded under our Amended and Restated 2005 Long Term incentive Plan. : i o

(2) Includes shares of our common stock that remainavailable for issuance Under our 2004-Restricted Stock Unit Planyand our Amended-and Restated 2005 Long
Term Incentive Plan.

lssuer Purchases of Equity Securities

No shares were repurchased in the quarter ended December 31, 2012 under the current-$75 million share repurchase program
approved in November 2011, The approximate dollar value of comron shares that may yet be purchased under this program is
$68.6 million. The repurchase program has no expiration date.




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The followiriy table cortaing our selected historical consolidated financial data for the five years ended December 31, 2012/ The

selected historical consolidated ‘fﬁ"‘f‘l(@i dataforeach of thevearsended Pecermbier 31,2012, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008

have been derived from our audited Ca;m\} amtm’ naricial statements. This selected Tinancial data should be read-in conjunction
d'notes included elséwhere in'this Anrial Report on Form 104K a5

with Koppers” Consolidated Finand
vern T anagenent’s Di Firancial Condition-and Results of Operations.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF P!NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are a leading integrated global provider.of carbon.compounds and commercial wood treatment preducts and services..Our
products are used in a variety of niche applications in a diverse tange of end:markets, including the aluminum, railroad,
specialty chemical, utility, rubber, concrete and steel industries. We serve our customers through a comprehensive global
manufacturing and distribution network, with manufacturing facilities located in the United States, Australia, China, the United
Kingdom, Denmark and the Netherlands: :

We operate two principal businesses: Carbon Materials & Chemicals (CM&C) and Railroad & Utility ?mducts {R&UP).

Through our CM&C business, we process codl tar into & variety of products; including carbon pitch, creosote, naphthalene and
phthalic anhydride, which are intermediate materials necessary in the production of aluminurm, the pressure treatment of wood
and.the production of carbon black, the production of highsstrength.concrete, and the production of plasticizers and specialty
chemicals, respectively. Through our R&UP business, we believe that we are the largest. supplier of railroad crossties to the North
American.railroads. Qur.other commercial wood treatrr ent Jroducts mgludo utifity poles for the electric and telephone utility
industries in North America and Australia. We also provide rail joint bar products as well as various services to the railroad
industry.

In October 2012 we entered into an agreemerit with Nippon Steel and Sumikit Chemical and several other entities to develop
and construct.a fully integrated coal tar based carbon products complex in Pizhou City, Jiangsu Province, China. The complex
will includé a 300,000 metric ton tar distillation facility that will be majority-owned by Koppers, as well as a carbon black plant
and a needle coke plant that will be owned by Nippon Steel and Surmnikin Chemical, A significant portion of the products
produced at the tar distillation plant will be sold under a long-term supply contract with Nippon Steel and Sumikin Chemical to
supply their carbon black and needle coke plants. The project has commenced and construction of the tar d;snlia’uon plant is
expected to be completed in mid-2014.

Outlook
Trend Qverview

Ourbusinesses and results of operations are impacted by various competitive and other-factors including (i) the impact of global
economic conditions on demand for our products; (i) raw materials pricing and availability, in particular the amount and quality
of coal tar available in global markets, which is negatively affected by reductions in steel production; (i) volatility in oil prices,
whieh impacts the cost of coal tar and certain other rave materials, as well'as selling prices and margins for certain of our
products including carbon black feedstock and phthalic anhydride; (iv) competitive conditions in global carbon pitch markets;
and (v) changes in foreign exchange rates, /

The availability of coal tar is linked to levels of metallurgical coke production. As the global steel industry has reduced
production of steel and metallurgical coke, the volumes of coal tar by-product were also reduced. Our ability to obtain coal tar
and the price we are able to negotiate has a significant irpact on the level of profitability of our business. Many of our sales
contracts include provisions that allow for price increases based on increases in the price of raw materials, which has allowed us
to generally maintain profit dollars in our core busingsses. However, significant increases in raw material costs can result.in
margin dilution if only the increased cost of the raw material is passed on to the customer. Additionally, in certain regions such
as China that have competing markets for coal tar, or in regions where the available supply of our products exceeds demand,
we may not be able to recover raw material cost increases in the selling pricesfor our-end products: /

The primary product produced by CM&C is carbon pitch, which'is sold primarily to the aluminum industry to be used in the
production of carbon anodes. The smelting of aluminum requires significant amounts of energy, which is a major cost
component for the aluminum industry. As a result, new production facilities are being built in regions with low energy costs
such as the Middle East, while regions with higher energy costs such as the United States and Western Europe have seen
significant amounts of smelting capacity idled or closed over the last several years.

Inlate 2011 and early 2012, reductions in aluminum pricing resulted in additional closures and curtailments in Europe and
Australia that have resulted in lower sales volumes of carbon pitch for us in those regions. While we expect to recover some of
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Carbon:Materials & Chemicals net sales for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased by $56.6 million or six.percent.
Sales:volumes for distillates increased sales by six percent over the priot.year:due 1o higher sales volumes:of carbon black
feedstock for Chinese operations combined with higher sales volures of carbon black feedstock from Australian operations to
thirch parties as a-result of the closure-of our carbon black plantin 2011 Sales prices for distillates increased sales by two. percent
due mainly to higher oil prices. Sales prices for pitch increased sales by five percent due to-higher raw material costs, and were
partially offset by-l6wer sales volumes for-pitch of four percent of sales as lower:sales volumes for North- America; Australia-and
Europe were partially offset by higher sales volumes from Chinese operations. The lower sales volumes were due mainly. 1o
aluminum.smelter closures and production cutbacks. Foreign currency translation resulted in a decrease in sales of two percent.

Railroad & Utility Products net sales for the year ended December 31,2012 increased by-$32.2 million or six percent. Sales
prices for-railroad crossties increased sales by five percent-and:-were partially offset: by lower salesvolumes-for crossties of two
percent of sales for the year ended December: 31,2011, with thehigher sales prices driven-mainly by higher sales volumes of
value added produtts to our Class | railroad custamers. Sales volumes and prices for utility poles increased sales by one percent
each driven by higher sales volumes-in the United States-and Australiarand highersales prices in Australia due to product mix;

Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was 85 percent for the year ended Decernber 31, 2012 which was unchanged from
the prior year. Overall, cost of sales increased by $82.3 million when compared to the prior year period due primarily to higher
CM&C and R&UP sales volumes. ' '

Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $1.3 million higher when compared to the prior
year due partially to a.fixed asset impairment charge of $0.6 million related to future capital requirements in excess of net cash
generation expected from an electricity co-generation facility located at one of the Company’s woad treatment plants in the
United States.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $1.3 million higher when
compared 1o the prior year period due primarily to higher compensation-related expenses.

interest expense for the vear ended December 31, 2012 was $0.7 million higher Wiien compared to the prior year period
reflecting a mix of changes-in average levels of borrowings and-interest rates in 2012

Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $5.4 million lower when compared to the prior year period. Our
effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2012 Was 33,1 percent as compared to the prior year period of 40.2
percent. The decrease in the effective income tax rate is primarily due to lower net tax reserves of $2.4 million recorded during
2012 ascompared to 2011 - Income tax expense was also favorably impacted in 2012 by the recognition of tax-benefits related
to prior years related to foreign tax credits and: domestic manufacturing deductions totaling:$ 1:6 million-and the recognition of
certain state tax net operating loss carryforwards related to prior tax years of $1.5 million.

Segment Results

Segment operating profit for the years ended December 31, 2012 and-201.1:1s summarized by segment in the following
table:

Year Ended
Decermber 31,
2012 2011 %.Change
{Dollars iy mifliohs)
Operating profit:
Carbon Materials & Chemicals $-83.1 -5 .89 <7 %
Railread-& Utility Products 451 34.8 - +30%
Corporate (1.6} (1.2) -33%

$126:6 31227 0 43%

Operating profit as a percentage of net sales:
Carbon Materials & Chemicals ' \ 83% 94% -1.1%
Railroad & Utility Products 8.1% 6.7% +1.4%

8.1%  84% -0.3%
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Interest expense forithe year ended December 31,201 1. was $0.1 million higher when: compared:to the prior year period
reflecting-a small increase in the average level of borrowing in 2011,

Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $9.8 million higher when compared to the prior year period due
primarily to:the increase in pretax-income.of:$22.7 million as compared to the prioryear. Our effectiveincome tax rate for the
yearended December 31, 2011 was 40.2 percent as compared to the prior year.period of 39.3 percent, The increase.in-the
effective income tax rate is primacily due to.a $3.5.million tax reserve associdted with our European restructuring project.

Segment Results

Segment operating profit for the years ended December. 37, 2011 and 2010 is summarized by segment in the following
table:

Year Ended
December 31,
mm;zfﬁ'i 2010 Y% Change
(Dollars in millions)
Operating profit:
Carbon Materials & Chemicals $ 891 $76.7 +16%
Railroad & Utility Products o 03408 5,230 +51%
Corporate {1.2)  (1.6) +25%

§1227 $981  +25%

Operating profit as a percentage of netsales:
Carbon Materials & Chemicals 94% 10A4A%  ~1.0%
Railroad & Utility Products : : 6.7% 5% +1.6%

84% 82% +02%

Carbon Materials & Chemicals operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased by $12.4 million or 16
percent. Operating profit as a percentage of net sales decreased to 9.4 percent from 10:4 percent as higher raw material costs
and lower sales prices for naphthalene more than otfset higher sales prices for pitch and phthalic anhydride:.

Railroad & Utility Products operating profit for the year ended Decermber 31, 2011 increased by $11.8 million or 51
percent. Operating profit as'a percentage of netsales increased 1o'6.7 pércent from 511 percent in the prior year as a result of
higher untreated crosstie volumes combined with higher prices and vollimes for cornmercial crossties, higher volumes of value
added products ard the acquisition of the rail joint bar busmess in December 2010:

Cash Flow

Net cash provided by operating activities was $77.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to net
cash provided by operating activities of $76.9 million for the year ended Decernber 31, 2011, Net working capital uses for 2012
were $19:4 million as compared to net working capital uses of §5.7 millionin 261 1. The increase inrworking capital
requirements in 2012 was primarily due to increases in inventory totaling $26.5 million as a result of increased demand for
crossties and increased levels of carbon materials to better manage supply chain requirements.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $76.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 as compared to net cash
provided by operating activities of $105.3 million for the year ended December 371, 2010, Net cash flows from-operating
activities decreased by approximately:$28 million bétween pariods due primarily to increased requirements-for working capital:
Net working capital uses for 2011 were $5.7 million which was dug primarily to increases in accounts receivable of $33.2
million partially offsetby an increase in accounts payable of $15.3 million. Theiincrease is due to higher sales.and related
purchasing-activity in 2011,

Net cash used in investing activities was $39.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 as compared to net cash used
in investing activities of $44.7 million for the year ended December 31, 201 1. Incréased acquisition expenditures of $14.0
million in-2012 were partially offset by the-repayment of $2:2-million from the loan to Tangshan Koppers Kailuan Carbon
Chemical Company Limited and lower capital expenditures of $4.3 million.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Restrictions on Dividends to Koppers Holdifigs

Koppers Holdings depends on the dividends from the earnings of Koppers Inc. and its subsidiaries to generate the fuads
necessary o meet iis finandia iob% igations, including the paymerit of any declared dividend of Koppers Holdings. Koppers Inc's
sredit agreerment prohibits it from malking dividend p %ym@ 1S 1o us nga (1) such-divident payments are parmitiod by the
indepture goveroing Koppers I ' event of defaulor potential default has occurred G ls continuing
gnder the credit agreement. % p;’;ms fie s Senior Notes restricts its ability to Tinande our payient of
dividends iy adetadit-has ooouy @ci or wolld S frarsuchdm a nging, (23 a restricted subsidiary of Koppers inc whichis
notaguarantor under thedndentu !

5 s not able toincur additional indebtedness (as defined in the indenture), and (3) thesum
allrestrizted-payments (as defined in the-indenture) have @xa@m@j the permitted amotint (which we refer 1o as the
At such pointin time. )

s governied by a formula based.on the sum-of a beginning amount, plus.or.minus a percentage of Koppers Inc.'s
wtincome (as defined in thedndenture), pius the nm‘ proceeds of Koppers Inc:'s qualified stock issuance or
of debt 1o qualified stock, plus the net proceeds fram the sale of or a reduction in an investment (as defined in-the
ém:!z;m’rur'» F the value of the assets of an unrestricted subsidiary which is designated.a restricted subsidiary. At December31,.
2012 the basket totaled $201.8 mséhum Notwithstanding such réstrictions, the indénture governing Koppers inc.’s Senior Notes
permits an *dw‘?@r‘a. aggregate amount of $20.0 million each fiscal year to finance dividends on the capital stock of Koppers:
~%a‘>%dmm whether or not there is any basket availability, provided that at the time of such payment; no default-in the indenture
Cocourred or would result from financing the dividends, ’

e ratiog in Kogpers-ine s revolving credit facility may restrict *he abmty of Koppersinc. o

The Koppers Inc reveliing eredit facility agresment provides for arevalving credit facility of up to $300:0 mi ionatvatable

e *:rai;es Barrowinigs urider the revolving credit facility-are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the assets of
Jand s matenal domestic subsidiaties: The revolvi :c; credit facility containg certain coverants for Koppers Incand
ubsidiaries thatdimit capital expenditures, additional indebletiness; liens; dividends-and investrments or
sequisitions. i adaition, such covenants give rise to events of dez ault ugon the failure by Kappers tne and its restricted
subsidiaries 1o meet certain financial ratios;

As-of Decembér 31, 2012, Wwe Had $290.0million of unused revoling credit avallability for working ¢ amtai purposes after:
restrictions by various debt céveriants and certain letter of credit dormmitiments As of December 31,2012, $10.0 millioniof
commitrients were utilized by outstanding létters of credit,




Koppers Holdings Inc

The following table summarizes our estimated liquidity as of December 31, 2012 (dollars in millions):

Cash and cash equivalentstV _ § 66.7
Amount available under revolving credit facility 250.0
Amount available under other credit facilities 9.0
Total estimated liquidity $365.7

(1) Cash includes approximately $62 million held by forelgn subsidiaries, which If repatiiated to the United States, would incur an estimated cash fax cost of
approximately. $20 milfion:

Our estimated liquidity was $344.7 million at December 31, 2011 The increase in-estimated liquidity from:that date is due
primarily to an increase in cash and an increase in the availability under the revolving credit facility due to lower borrowings at
the end of the year.

In June 2012, 'we filed a registration statement on Form 5-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission which gives us the
opportunity to offer common stock, debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, warrants and units (or a combination of
these securities) from time to time in one or more offerings. In addition, Koppers Inc. may sell debt securities from time to time
under the registration staterment. This registration statement expires inJune 2015 @
Our need for cash in the next twelve months relates primarily to contractual obligations which include debt service, purchase
commitments and operating leases, as well as working capital, capital maintenance programs and mandatory-and voluntary
defined benefit plan funding. We may also use cash to pursue potential strategic acguisitions. Capital expenditures in 2013,
excluding acquisitions, are expected to total approximately $38 miltion. In October 2012, a subsidiary of the Company signed an
agreement to construct & coal tar distillation facility in China: Constrdction js expected to commence in‘eatly 2013 and be
completad by mid-2014. The Company’s expected future capital requirement commitrnent for the majority-owned facility is
approximately $50 million and will be-financed by available ‘cash and incremental financing. A significant portion of the capital
requirements will be provided over the next 18 months.

Schedule of Certain Contractual Obligations

The following table details our projected payments for our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012, The

table is based upon available information and certain assumptions we believe to be reasonable,
Fapinents Dus by Period

Total 2013 . 2014-2015...-2016-2017 Lateryears
(iry milficns)
Long-term debt (including accretion) $ 3000 % 00 %00 % 00 $300.0
Interest on debt 165.4 236 47.3 47.3 47.2
Operating leases 998 318 251 12.9 30.0
Purchase commitments() ' S 01,5280 3701 537.8 3452 274.9
Total contractual cash obligations ; : $2,093.2 . $425.5 - $610.2 - $405.4 $652.1

(1) Consists primarily of raw materials purchase contracts. These are typically niot fixed price arrangements; the prices are based on'the prevailing market prices: As'a
result, we generally expect to be able to hedge the purchases with sales at those future prices.

Pension and other employee benefit plan funding obligations (for defined benefit plans) aré not included in the table above. We

expect defined benefit plan contributions 1o total approximately $24 million in 2013, Estimated funiding obligations are

deterrnined by asset performance, workforce and retires demographics, tax and employment laws and other actuarial

assumptions which may change the annual funding obligations in addition to decisions to fund in excess of statutorily required

amounts. The funded status of our defined benefit plans is disclosed in ltern 8, Financial Staterments and Supplementary Data -

Note 15.

Schedule of Certain Other Commercial Commitments

The following table details our projected payments for other significant commercial commitments as of December 31, 2012

The table is based upon available information and certain assumptions we believe tobe reasonable. :

Payments Due by Period

Total O3 20042018, 20162017 2 Latef yars
(in millions} ;
Lines of credit (unused) $299.0 % 9.0 $290.0 =300 $0:0
Standby letters of credit 10,8 108 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total other commercial commitments $309.8 $19.8 $290.0  $0.0 $0.0
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Recently Issued Accounting Guidance

There s norecently issued atcounting guidance that s expected:to. have a material impact on our finangial results,

Critical 4 m.c}unt rzg Policies

g
manager

atements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the tUnited States requ)
: judgment in making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounis of revenues and :
expenses, and flabilities; and the disclosure of contingent:liabilities. The following accounting policies are based on,
among other things, judgments and asstmptions made by memacg@rwm‘ that include inherent risks and uncertainties: Our
management’s estimates are based onidhe relevantinformation avallable at the end of each period.

Revenue !%ée‘:ﬂgm&@ﬁ We recognize ravenye from ;; aduct mivs at the tifme of shipment ot wi’zen title passes tothe customer.
We recannie revenue related 1o the procirement of certain ublreated railroad crossties upon transfer of title, whi
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Accounts ﬁesemai}i&_ \\fe maintain accountsdfor estimated losses resulting from.the inability of our

: become aware of a specific customer's inability 1o meetils

%t_eizgat@ns, a specific - amounts due. I the financal conditions of-otr

tecto deteriorate; resuﬂ;mgg in‘an in“}paairmmt of their abxhty to make payments, additional allowances may be
2012, we recorded an allowance for doubtiul accounts totaling $3\ million related to the bankruptcy of a

inventori% Iy the United States; CMBC and REUPinventories are valued-at-the fower-of cost-utilizing the:ast-in, firstaaut
LIFO“y basis, or market. Inventores outsite the United States.arevalued at the lower of cost, utilizing the first-in, fisst-out




basis (“FIFO"), or market: Market represents replacement cost for raw materials and net realizable value forwork in process-and
finished goods. LIFQ inventories constituted approximately 62 percent-of the FIFQ inventory value at December 31, 2012 and
2001102012 and 2011, we recorded inventory writedowns of $0.4-million and-$3.3 million, respectively, related to the
decision to cease manufacturing operations at our carbon black facility in Australia;

Long-Lived Assets. Our management periodically evaluates the net realizable value of long-lived assets, including property,
plant and equipment;-based on-a number-of factorsiincluding operating results; projected-future cash-flows and-business plans.
We tecord long-lived assets at the lower of cost or fair value, with:fafr vatue based on @ssumptions concerning the amount and
timing of estimated future cash flows. Since judgmentisinvolved in determining the fair value of fixed assets, thereisarisk that
the carrying value of our long-lived assets may be overstated. During 2012, we recorded 3 fixed asset impairment charge of
$0.6 million related to future capital requirements in excess of net cash generation expected from an electricity co-generation
facility located at one of the Company’s wood treatment plants in the United States. In 2011 we recorded a fixed asset
impairment charge of $20.2 million related to the decisionto cease manufactining operations at ourcarbon black facility in
Australia.

Goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is assessed for impairment at least on an annual basis. In making this assessment,
rnanagement relies on various factors, including operating results, estimated future cash flows, and business plans. There are
inherent uncertainties related to these factors and in our management’s judgment in applying them:to:the-analysis of goodwill
impairment. Because management’s judgment is involved in performing goodwill impairment analyses, there is risk that the
carrying value of goodwill is overstated. ,

Goodwill valuations are performed using projected operating results of the relevant reporting units. We have three reporting
units for-purposes of goodwill evaluation. These units consist.of our Carbon Materials & Chemicals operating segment, Railroad
Products & Services and Koppers Wood Products, Railroad Products & Services and Koppers Wood Products are one level below
our Railroad & Utility Products-operating segment. The Railroad Products & Services reporting unit prirarily. serves the rail
industry.in the United States.and the Koppers Wood Products primarily serves the utility and residential markets in Australia.
Changes in economic and.operating conditions impacting these assumptions could resultin goodwill impairments in future
periods. Additionally, disruptions to our business such as prolonged recessionary periods or unexpected significant declines in
operating results of the relevant reporting units could result in charges for goodwill and other asset impairments in future
periods.

Deferred Tax Assets. At December 31, 2012 our balance sheet included $85.3 million of deferred tax assets, net of an $17.4
million valuation allowance. We have determined that this valuation allowance is required for our deferred tax assets based on
future earnings projections; In-order to fully realize our deferred tax assets in relation 16 our temporary differences and exclusive
to.any net operating losses, we will-have to generate approximately $255 million of taxable income. The realization of these
deferred tax-assets is not subject to any expiration and is:dependent:upon the reversal of the underlying temporary

differenices. In‘order to fully realize our deferred tax-assets (net of valuation allowarices) in relation to-our state net operating
losses, we will haveto generate approximately $500 million of taxable income before any:applicable adjustments and
apportionment fractions per state laws between 2013 and 2026. To the extent.that we encounter unexpected difficulties in
market conditions, adverse changes in regulations affecting our businesses and operations, adverse outcornes in legal and
environmental matters, or any other unfavorable conditions, the projections for future taxable income may be overstated and
we may be required to record an increase in‘the valuation allowance related to these deferred tax assets which could have a
material adverse effect on income in the future. In 2012, we recorded a deferred tax asset and offsetting valuation allowance
against that deferred tax asset of $8.8 million for foreign tax credits earned in prior tax years. In 2012, we recorded a reversal of
valuation allowances totaling $1.5 million relating to the recognition of certain state tax net operating loss carryforwards related
to prior tax years. ftem 8. Finandial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 7 includes information on deferred tax activity
during.the past two years. .

Accrued Insurance. We are insured for property, casualty and workers’ compensation insurance up to various.stop.loss
amounts after meeting required retention levels, Losses are accrued based upon estimates of the liability for the related
retentions for claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions followed in the insurance industry and based on our
experience. In the event we incur a significant number of losses beyond the coverage retention limits, additional expense
beyond the actuarial projections would be required. Item 8. Finaricial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 2 includes
information on expense recognized during the past two.years.

Asset Retirement Obligations. We measure asset retirement obligations based upon the applicable accounting guidance,
using certain assumptions including estimates regarding the recovery of residues in storage tanks. In the event that operational
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judgments on the part of management, the recorded liabilities could be lower than what'is ultindately required. fterm 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 18 includes information about litigation and other contingencies.

Environmental Liabilities. We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations and potential liabilities
relating to the protection of the environment and human health and safety, including, among other things, the cleanup of
contaminated sites, the treatment, storage and disposal of wastes, the discharge of effluent into waterways, the emission of
substances into the air and various health and safety matters. We expect to incur substantial costs for ongoing compliance with
suich laws and regulations. We may also incur costs as a result of governmental or third-party claims, or otherwise incur costs,
relating to cleanup of, or for injuries resulting from, contamination at sites associated with past and present operations. We
accrue for environmental liabilities when a determination can be made that they are probable and reasonably estimable. In
2011 we recorded environmental reserves of $6.7 million related to the decision to-cease manufacturinig-operations at our
carbon black facility in Australia. ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplernentary Data - Note 18 includes information about
environmental liabilities.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Like other global companies, we are exposed to market risks relating to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates. The objective of our financial risk-management is to minimize the negative impact of interest rate and foreign
exchange rate fluctuations on our earnings, cash flows and.equity.

To manage the interest rate risks, we use a combination of fixed and variable rate debt. This reduces the impact of short-term
fluctuations in interest rates: To-manage foreign-currency exchange rate risks; we enterinto foreign-currency debt instruments
that are held by our foreign subsidiaries. This reduces the impact of fluctuating currencies on net income and equity. We also
use forward exchange contracts to hedge firm commitments up 1o twelve months and all such contracts are marked to market
with the recognition of a gain or loss at each reporting period.

The following analyses present the sensitivity of the market value, earnings and cash flows of our financial instruments and
foreign operations to hypothetical changes in interest and exchange rates as if these changes occurred at December 31, 2012
and 2011. The range of changes chosen for these analyses reflects our view of changes which are reasonably possible over a
one-year period. Market values are the present values of projected future cash flows based on the interest rate and exchange
rate assumptions. These forward-looking statements are selective in nature and only address the potential impacts from
financial instruments and foreign operations. They do not include other potential effects that could impact our business as a
result of these changes.

Interest Rate and Debt Sensitivity Analysis. Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our
debt obligations. We have fixed and variable rate debt and the ability to incur variable rate debt under the Koppers Inc. credit
agreement,

At December 31, 2012 we had $296.1 million of fixed rate debt and no variable rate debt and at December 31, 2011, we had
$295.7 million of fixed rate debt and $6.4 million of variable rate debt. Our ratio of variable rate debt to fixed rate debt at
December 31, 2011 was approximately two percent. For fixed rate debt, interest rate changes affect the fair market value but
do not impact earnings or cash flows. For variable rate debt, interest rate changes generally do not affect the fair market value
but do impact future earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.

Holding other variables constant (such as debt levels and foreign exchange rates), a one percentage point decrease in interest
rates at December 31, 2012 and 2011 would have increased the unrealized fair market value of the fixed rate debt by
approximately $18.4 million and $19.5 million, respectively. The earnings and cash flows for the year ending December 31,
2011, assuming a one percentage point increase in interest rates would have decreased approximately $0.1 million, holding
other variables constant for variable rate debt.

Exchange Rate Sensitivity Analysis. Our exchange rate exposures result primarily from our investment and ongoing
operations in Australia, Denmark, the Netherlands, China and the United Kingdom. Holding other variables constant, if there
were a ten percent reduction in all relevant exchange rates, the effect on our earnings, based on actual earnings from foreign
operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, would be reductions of approximately $3.3 million and $0.7
miflion, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Koppers Holdings Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes inaccordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Management has assessed the effectiveness of Koppers Holdirigs Inc ‘s internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2012. In making this assessment, management has utilized the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework. Management concluded that
based on its assessment, Koppers Holdings Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2012,

The effectiveness of Koppers Holdings Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of Decernber:31, 2012, has been audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that also audited the consolidated financial statements
included in this annual report, as stated in their attestation report which appears on page 41.

February 25, 2013

/s \WALTER W, TURNER
Walter W. Turner
president and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ LEROY-M. BALL
Leroy M. Ball
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Koppers Holdings Inc.: |

W have audited Koppers Holdings Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria
astablishied in Internal Control = Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). Koppers Holdings Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying “Management's Report on Internal Control Qver Finandial Reporting”. Our responsibility isto express an opinion
on-the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on‘ouraudit. ' '

We conducted -our auditin accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United-States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design.and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessaty in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions.of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as:necessary 16
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finandial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeguate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may:deteriorate.

In our opinion, Koppers Holdings Inc. maintained, in all material respécts, effective internal control over finandial reporting as of
December 31,2012, based on the COSO criteria. ‘

We also have audited, in-accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Koppers Holdings Inc. as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2012 of Koppers Holdings Inc. and our report dated February 25, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

78/ ERNST & YOUNGLLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF NCC)ME
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Thé accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2013

ofiars
et income
Changes

$67.2 $376 5445
ather comprehensive income (oss):

Currency franslation adjustment 58 (2.5) 15
Unrecagnized pension transition asset, natof tax of $0.1, $0.1 and $0.1 (0.3} 02 (0.2}
i sunized pension prior service cost, net of tax of $0:0, $0:.0 and $0.1 0.0 01 0.2
Unitecognized pension net gain Joss), net of tax of $(2.3), $9.2 and $0.6 2.8 (14.9) ©.n
Total com pf{\h@ﬁ iive fncome 201 553
Comprehensiveir e altributable to nontontrolling interasts 1.2 0.7

Comprehars attributable to Koppers 5189 $54.6

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial staterments,



KOPPERS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,
20?5“ 27;77
(Dallars in miliions, except share amounts}
Assels
Cash and cash equivalents ] $ 667 % 541
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3.7 and $0.3 10271609
income tax receivable 1.6 10.6
Inventories, net 1958 159.0
Deferred tax.assets 159 9.3
Loan to related party 95 11.7
Other current assets 29.8 21.8
Total current assets 4812 4274
Equity in non-consolidated investments ' 5.8 4.9
Property, plant and equipment, net 1611 1556
Goodwill 756 72
Deferred tax assets vyl 44.3
Other assets 281 26.4
Total assets §780.0 97307
Liabilities :
Accounts payable S %1035 41020
Accrued liabilities / 721631
Dividends payable 56 5.2
Total current liabilities 18121704
Long-term debt 2960 3021
Accrued postretirement benefits 89:9 1041
Other long-term liabilities 44.7 46.9
Total liabilities s 6119 6235
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 18)
Equity
Senior Corvertible Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares
issued 0.0 0.0
Common Stock, $0.07 par value per share; 40,000,000 shares authorized; 21,585,129 and 21,309,210
shares issued 0.2 0.2
Additional paid-in capital 153.3 1429
Retained earnings 52.0 6.7
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ) (22.0} (30.2)
Treasury stock, at cost; 951,026 and 706,161 shares Lo (32.9) . (24.8)
Total Koppers shareholders’ equity 150.6 94.8
Noncontrolling interests 175 12.4
Total equity 168.1.: 1072
Total liabilities and equity , $780.0  $730.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



KOPPERS HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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Holdings inc

KOPPERS HOLDINGS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Year Entled Decernber 31,

G209z R0M 2010
(Doliars in miflions)
Senior Convertible Preferred Stock
Balance at beginning and end of year $000 00300
Common Stock .
Balance at beginning and end of year : 0.2 0.2 0.2
Additional paid-in capital
Balance at beginning of year 1429 1370 1272
Ermployee stock plans 10.4 5.9 98
Balance at end of year 153.3 1429 1370
Retained earnings (deficit) ’
Balance at'beginning of year 670 (V7Y (37.3)
Netincome attributable to Koppers : , 656 36.9 44
Common:Stock dividends : ¥ s 203) 0 (18.5) 0 (18.5)
Balance at end of year 52.0 67 (117
Accumutated other comprehensive loss
Currency translation adjustment: :
Balance at-beginning of:year 2288 31.7 20.6
Change in currency translation adjustment 5.7 2.9...11.1
Balance atend of year 345 288 317
Unrecognized pension transition asset: )
Balance at beginning of year 0.3 05 07
Change in unrecognized pension asset, net of tax : (03} 0.2) (0:2)
Balance at end of year 0.0 03 05
Unrecognized pension priar service cost: :
Balance at beginning of year 0.2) (0:3) {0:5)
Change in unrecognized pension prior service cost, net of tax 0.0 0.1 0.2
Balance at end of year . o (0.2) 02 03
Unrecognized pension net loss:
Balance at beginning.of year . L (59.1)  (44.2) . (43.5)
Change In unrecognized pension net loss, net of tax ‘ 2.8 (14.9) 0.7)
Balance at end of year - \ : (56.3) - (59.1) . (44.2)
Total balance at end-of year (22007 30:2) 123
Treasury stock d
Balance at beginning of year ) (24.8) . .(24.5) - (23.6)
Purchases 8.1y (03 09
Balance atend of year (32.9) - (24.8) . (24.5)
Total Koppers shareholders’ equity =end of year 1506 948 887
Noncontrolling interests :
Balance at beginning of year 12.4 11.2 11.0
Net iricome attributable 1o noncontrolling interests 1.6 0.7 0.4
Dividends to noncontrolling interests 0.6 0.0 0.6)
Investment in noncontrolling interests 3.3 0.0 0.6)
Currencytranslation adjustment 0.2 0.5 04
Balance at end of year ' 17.5 12.4 11.2
Total equity ~ end of year $168:1 -$107.2° $.99.9

The accompanying notes are an integraf part of these consolidated financial statements.



KOPPERS HOLDINGS INC. -
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Description of Business

Parentcompany of Koppers inc. ~1n t‘smf ?;maf il siuzmmis, unless otherwise indicated or the context éc}u‘m‘s otherwise,
when theterms "Koppers,” the *C s v, Tour” . are used, they mean Koppers Ho [dings fnc. (" Koppers
Holdings™ Y and s subsidiaries oni'a cmwi%d{a%ad basis. ‘T‘h@ use of these terms 5 not intended 1o imply that Koppers Holdings
and Koppers Inc are-not separate and disting legal entities from sach other and from their respective subsidiaries. Koppers
Holdings has no-direct operations and nosignificant assets uther thanthe stock of Koppersine it dﬁpends o the dividends
idiaries to generate the funds necessary to meet its financial obligations. The
armms of Koppers Inc.’s revolving credit facility prohibit Koppers Inic. from paying dividends and otherwise Jransferri g assets

for certain Lmited dividends. Further, the termis of the indenture governing Koppers Inc.'s Senior Notes significantly
wpers inc from paying dividends and otherwise transterring assets to Koppers Holdings. :

Iar

@%tr et

Busine ription = The Company is a-global integrated producer of carbon compounds and treated and u ' aftm;i WQcati
products and services for use in-a variety of markets including the aluminum, railroad, specialty chemical, wiﬁy, concrete and
stealndistnes. The Company's business s operated through two business segments, Carbon:Materials & Chermicals and:
Railroad & Utility Products. i

segment is primarily a manufacturer of carbon pitch; naphthalene, phithalic

ck. Carbon pitch is a cr z,z{ag raw material used in the production of aluminbem and
for the production of steel in electric arc furnaces. Naphthaleneis used-for the production of phthalic anhydrideand as 2
surfactant in the production of concrete: Phithalic anhydride is used in the production of plasticizers, polyester resins and alkyd
pants: Credsote s used in the treatment of wood and carbon black teedstock is used in the production of carbonblack.

The Company's Carbon Materials & Che
anhydride; cregsolte and carbon black feedsto

&

The Company’s Ralroad & Utility Products segment sells treated and untreated wood pmdu:tn il | jo;m bars and services
primarily 1o the railroad industry and treated wood products to the utility industiy. Railroad praducts include procuring and
treating flems such as crossties, switch ties and various types of lumber used for railroad bridges and crossings and the
manutaciute ofral joint bars. Utility products indude transmission and distribution poles-and pilings: The segment also
produces concrete crossties through a joint venture,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Bagis of srtation ~ The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Con *1pany and all majority-owned
subsidiaries for which the Company is deermed to exercise control over its operations. All significant | *“zmrr.m*emhy transactions
have:beerveliminatedin-consoll i&iam The:Company's investmentsin 20 percent 1o 50 percent-owned companies in which it

15 the abllity to exercize significant influence over ’?pf\ ating and financlal policies are accounted for using the equity method
ofaect

stinting Accordingly, the Company's share-of the earnings of these companies is included in the accompanying
consolidated statement of income.

Use ol estimates = Actounting principles generally a “"‘*g‘s‘%‘@a‘ in the U.S. require management to make estimates and judgments
that-aftect the reported amounts m‘ assels and-labilities and-the disclosureof f;gmumenftes on the date of the finanda i
tatemente aswisll as the reported amounts of revenues and expens

< during the reporting period. Esti mat@q have been
pared on the basis of the most current and best available information and actual resutts could differ materially from these
astimates.

i(?i&}i}“ currency translation - For consolidated entities outside of the U.S. that prepare financial statements in currencies other
S dollar, results of operations.and cash flows are translated at average exchange fates dufing the period,and asset
) are translated at end-of-period exchange rates. Cumulative translation adiustments are included as a separate
component of accumulated other compirehensive loss in shareholders’ squity: Amounts credited (charged) to cumulative
translation adjustinents for intercompany loans totaled $1.8 million in 2012,-$(0.5) million in 2011 and $7.2 million in 2010.

e

Foreign currency transaction gains-and losses result from transactions denominated in a currency which is different thari the
currency used by the entity 1o prepare 1ts financial statements, Foralgn currency transaction fosses were $1.7 million, $0°5
rilfion and 2.3 million for the years ended December 3172012, 2011 and 2010, respectively:




Revenue recognition - The Company recognizes revenue-when the risks and rewards.of ownership-and-title to the. product-have
transferred 1o the customer.-Revenue recognition generally occurs at the point of shipment; however in certain circumstances as
shipping terms dictate, revenue:is recognized at the pointof destination. Shipping and handling .costs are included as a
component of cost of sales.

The Company recognizes revenue related-to-the procurement of certain.untreated-railroad crossties upon transfer-of title to the
customer;which occurs upon delivery to the Company’s plant and acceptance by-the customer. Service revenue, consisting
primarilyof wood treating services s recognized-at-the time the sepvice is: provided::Payment on-sales of uptreated railroad
crossties and wood treating services are generally:due within-30 days of the invoice date.. The Company's recognition of
revenue with respect to untreated crossties meets all-the recognition criteria of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin' Topic 13.A:3., including transfer of title and risk of ownership, the existerice of fixed purchase )
commitments and delivery schedules established by the customer, and the completion of all performance obligations by the
Company. Revenue recognized for untreated crosstie sales for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 amounted
10 $109.0 million, $116.5 million and $106.4 million, respectively.

Research & development ~ Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses. These costs totaled $2.3 million in 2012, $1.9 million in 2011 and $2 1 million in 2010.

Cash and cash equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and on depos&t and investments in highly hquxd
investments with an original-maturity of 90 days orless. :

Accounts receivable - The Cornpany maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of its custorners to make required payments. In circumstances where the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations to Koppers, a specific reserve for bad debts is recorded against amounts due: If the
financial condition of the Company's customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an inability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.

Inventories — Inventories.are carried at lower of cost or market on a.worldwide basis. In the U.S., inventory cost (excluding
miscellaneous types of inventory) is determined prirarily utilizing the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) basis. Inventory cost outside the
U.S. is determined utilizing the first-in, first-out (“FIFO"Y basis, Market represents replacement cost for raw materials and net
realizable value for work in process and finished goods. LIFO inventories constituted approximately 62 percent and 59 percent
of the FIFO inventory value at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Property, plant & equipment - Property, plant and equipment are recorded at purchased cost and include improvements which
ssgmﬁcantly increase capacities or extend useful lives of existing plant and equipment. Depreciation expense is calculated by
applying the straight-line method over estimated useful lives. Estimated useful lives for buildings generally range from 10 to 20
years‘and depreciable lives for machinery and equipment generally range from 310 10:years: Net gains and losses related to
asset disposals are recognized in earnings in the period in which the disposal occurs: Routine repairs, replacements and
maintenance are expensed as incurred.

The Company periodically evaluates whether current facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its depreciable
fong-lived assets may not be recoverable. If an asset, or logical grouping of assets, is determined to be impaired, the asset is
written down to its fair value using discounted future cash flows and, if available, quoted market prices.

Goodwill & other intangible assets — Goodwill and other purchased intangible assets are included in the identifiable assets of
the business segmentto-which they have been assigned. The Company performs impairment tests-annually for goodwill, and
more-often as circumstances require. When it is determined that impainment has occurred, an appropriate charge to earnings is
recorded. The Company performed its annual impairment test in the fourth quarters of 2012 and 2011 and determined that the
estimated fair values substantially exceeded the carrying valtes of all‘the reporting units and accordingly, there was no
impairment of-goodwill.

Identifiable intangible assets; other than goodwill, “are recorded at cost: Identifiable intangible assets that do not have indefinite
lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Deferred income taxes ~ Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liahilities and their respective tax bases. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax laws is recognized in earnings in the period the new laws are enacted. A




valliation allowance 1§ recorded 1o rwjuco the carrying amaunts of géferrad tax assets unless it is more likely than ot thm‘ﬁu&h*
aksets Will b realized, Deferred tax liabilifies have not been recognized for the undistributed earnings of certaln foreign’
ries because management ‘a VRS D periRa bty Felnvest steh earnigs h foreigh operations.
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Derivative financial instruments ~ The Comipar 'ay uses forward @xahmgo contracts to-hedge exp@ﬁum 1o curremy fexchamgn Tate
hanges on transactions and oﬂ:ner commitrnents. denominated in a foreign currency. Contracts are generally written on a
¢ or Speculative purposes. The Company recognizes the fair value of the forward contracts
ite. Recause the Company hias not elected to designate the forwatd exchange
contracts for n@dge accounti ngt mtmwm chandes i the falr value of the Torward exchiange contracls are recognized
imitechataly in earsings.

o

g

bligations are inftially recorded at fair value and are capitaized as part ot the
sst.of the related fong-lived asset when su information is available to estimate fair value. The capitalized costs are
,etzs,;éf’tz%y rhargﬂd to depreciation expense over the estimated useful life of the related long-lived asset. The fair value of the
5 determined by catculating the discotnted value of expected future cash flows arkd accretion expense-is recorded

to ultirately increase this obligation to full value.

et retirement obligations ~ Asset relireme

Em ’ ampm Iy recognizes awor rmumxz:"sr wiwqm::) s i’af* mﬂ removal Lmd di sposm of resadu&s d smaﬂt mq 0? c@rmm tums

Thig- fottowing w! le-tlescribes changes tothe Company's a%wt retirement obligation liabilities at Dewmbér 31,2012 amci 2044

SHick H AR Jeiesis

Asset retirernent obl ygatio-“z at beginning of year
Onexpense

evision inestimated cash flows

Cash expendiures

Currenicy translation

Asservretivement obligationat end.of vear . L

Lotexpense related 1o the closureof its:carbon black facility in Kurnell Australia

seiated with fitigation and contingencies are accrued when management, after taking
: fm e fc}(”f"; and cife Ufﬁ‘,«imﬁﬁ,@b af eachmatier xrv:imsr q any settlement offers, has determined that it is probable
bility has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs for litigation are expe! wse;@:ri s

antassets- Included in o*th@f Gt rem 855
31,2002 and Decamber 31, 2011, respectl

ai e prapal d exper ms totaling $7.4 million and $9.9 million at
veiy.

[ecer mbm



Environmental liabilities - The-Company-accrues for remediation costs and penalties when the responsibility to remediate is
probable and the amount of related cost is reasonably estimable. If only a range of potential liability can be estimated and no
amount within the range:is more probable than another, thesaccrual s recorded.at the low end of that range. Remediation
liabilities are discounted if the amount and timing of the cash disbursernentsare readily determinable.

Deferred revenue from extended product warranty. liabilities - The Company.defers revenues associated with extended product
warranty liabilities based on historical loss experience and sales of extended warranties on certain products. The following table
describes changes to the Company's deferred revenue at December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012 J
(Dodlars i miillions)
Deferred revenue at beginning of year ) $48 $57
Revenue earned 0.9). (0.9
Beferred revenue at-end ofyear 2o$3.9.94.8

Stock=pased compensation = The Company records compensation cost over the-vesting period for share-based-payments-to
ermployees at an amount equivalent to the grant date fair value of the stock award. No compensation cost is recognized for any
stock awards that are forfeited in the event the recipient failsto meet the vesting requirements.

3. Business Acquisitions

Western Poles — On November 19, 2012, the Cornpany acquired the pole distribution business (“Western Poles”) of Ridolfo
Forestry Products Pty Limited for cash of $13.8 million and expected future payments totaling $4.9 million (on a discounted
hasis). to be.paid over a period of 36 months assuming certain sales contracts remain in effect. The Western Poles business
mainly serves utility customers in Western Australia and complements our existing wood treatment business in Australia. The
preliminary allocation of purchase price to acquired assets consisted of inventory totaling $8.0 million, plant and equipment
totaling $1.0 million, intangible assets consisting primarily of customer relationships totaling $8.5 million, non-compete
agreements totaling $0.4 million deferred tax liabilities of $1.7 million and Australiar hondeductible goodwill of $2.6 million.

The goodwill is allocated to the Railroad & Utility Products segment-and the customer contracts will be amz)mzed overg period
of 15 years and the non-compete agresment will be amortized over a periodiof 12 years:

Other acquisitions —In 2010, the Company completed three acquisitions. On March 1, 2010, the Company acquired 100
percent of the outstanding shares of privately-owned Cindu Chemicals B.V. (“Cindu”), a Dutch company which operates a
140,000 metric ton coal tar distillation plant in Uithoorn, Nethertarids: The acquisition:was funded with cash on hand and the
acquisition price was $21.6 million. Cindu was subsequently renamed Koppers Netherlands B.V. ("Koppers Netherlands”).

On October 31, 2010, the Company acquired the midwestern United States refined tar business of Stella Jones Inc. for cash of
$6.1 million, Finally, on December 22, 2010, the Company acquired the rail joint bar business of Portec Rail Products, Inc.
located in Huntington, West Virginia. The purchase price was cash of $10.7 million.

Pro-forma information = The consolidated pro forma results of operations if the acquisition had been completed as of the
beginning of the year in 2012 would have been-pro forma revenue-of $1,581.7 million and operating profit of $130.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2012. The consolidated pro forma results of operations if the acquisition had been completed
as of the beginning of the year in 2011 would have been pro forma revenue of $1,480.3 million and operating profit of $123.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. The consolidated pro forma results of operations if the acquisitions had been
completed as of the beginning of the year in 2010 would have been pro forma revenue of $1,234.7 million and operating profit
0f-$99.9 million forthe year ended December 31, 2010,

4. Discontinued Operations

In December 2011, the Company ceased manufacturing operations.at.its carbon black facility. located in Kurnell,-Australia. This
decision was made as a result of deteriorating business conditions including raw material availability and cost, competition in
the export markets due to the strength of the Australian dollar and a variety of other factors. The costs related to this closure
totaled $471.0 million in the fourth quarter of 20171, The Company estimates that total future closure costs related to this facility
will be approximately $0.8 million. The closure is expected to-be completed by 2014, The results of operations of the carbon
black facility have been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented as run-off activities were completed in




the firdt guarter of 2012 The facility 15 part of the Carbon Materals & Chemicals segmient Netsales from this discontiniied
operation tofaled $5 6 million; $72. 7 millon and §55.0 million for the yeart ended December 31, 2012 20V and ‘2{’)@&
respectively. Operating loss) profit from this discontinted operation totaled $(0:3) millior, 5(43 7y mi’h o and $0.9 million for
the years ended Decermber 31,2002, 201 and 2010, retpectively.

Details of the restructuring activities and related reserves for 2012 are as follows:

#rployae Asser INVentony. Site

tenifits irnpairment - wrltedowns - - demolition s Tota)
{Dollars ins s

Reserve af January 1, 2011 $0.0 $0.0 $ 0077 50077800800 800
Charges- 3.4 6.7 202 3.3 6.2 1240
Costs charged against assets , 0.0 0.0 (20.2) 33 0o GO EaE)
Cash:paid (1.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 00 00 (18
Reserve at December 31, 2011 ; , ' 18 $6.7 $.40.00 0 500 %(,}’ $1 a ?&115;&
‘ i 0.1 0.0 00 B 00 0 0
harged against assets 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.:4) 0.0 0.0 e
Reversal of accrued charges 0.0 0.0 0:0 0.0 G0 o) e
Cagh gazﬁ (1.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 (Ol - 05y 207
Currency fanslation 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.0 01 0.0 0.2

Resarve al December 31, 2012 S0z $6.7 $ o0 00 55 S0 v

5. Earnings and Dividends per Common Share

The computation of basicearings per common sharefor the periodspresented is based upon the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during theperiods The computation of diluted earhings per common share includes the effect of
nonvested nongualified stock options and restricted stock wrilts assuming such options and stock units ware outstending
common shares at the beginning of the period. The effect of antidilutive securities and per‘z}rmaﬁce restricted stock units that
have not met xrestmg criteria are excluded from the cam;}u&ats{m of diluted earnings per common share.

Thefollowing mb e setsforth the com pummn of béwc dnd dituted earning gs p@r commaon ahare S
B YegiEndad Dacernbir 37,

2018 2011 2010
(Dl illicrs; %‘ezt«t vi:))”@ atvotints, in thousahids, and per. Share SOOUNES)
Net income atiributable to Koppers ' ' U R TG 1 T R
Less: discontinued operations 0.1 (19.9) {01
Income fram continuing operations attibutable 1o Kappers ) § 657§ 568 % 447

20,681 - 20,599 - 20,543

i—fferi of dilutive zefunt ag : 2486 234 133
Diluted 20,927 20,833 20,676
§oga8 S0 24

314 2.72 213

vé sectirl zms r}xciud@d fmm mmputaﬁon M duumd @ammgﬂ per common har,@ G g 06T B

On February &, 2013, the boarc dirm@m aieamrad @ Cguarteﬂriy dividend of 25 cents per common share; payable on AlnEe,
201340 shareholders of record as of February 19,2013 ‘ i



6. Stock-based Compensation

The amended and restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP") provides for the grant 1o eligible persons of stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance awards, dividend
equivalents and other stock-based-awards, which are collectively referred to as the awards.

Under the LTIP, the board of directors granted restricted stock units arid performance stock units to certain employee
participants (collectively, the "stock units”) each year starting in 2007. The restricted stock units vest on the third anniversary of
the grant date, assuming continued employment by the participant. Performance stock units granted in 2011 and 2070 each
have § two-year performance objective. Performance stock units granted before 2010 and after 2011 have three-year
performance objectives. Regardless of whether the measurement period for the applicable performance objective is two or
three years, all performance stock units have a three-year period for vesting (if the applicable performance objective is
obtained), The applicable performance objective is based upon a multi-year cumulative value creation calculation commencing
on the firstdayiof each grantyear. The numberof performance stock units granted represents the target award and
participants have the ability to earn between zero and 150 percent of the target award based upon actual performance. It
minimuim performance criteria-are not achieved, no perfarmance stock units will vest.

Dividends declared on the Company's common stock drurmq the restriction period of the stock units are credited at equivalent
value as additional stock units and become payable as additional common shares upon vesting. In the event of termination of
employment other than retirement, death or disability, any non- —vested stock units are forfeited, including additional stock units
credited from dividends. In the event of termination of employment due to retirernent, death or disability, pro-rata vesting of the
stock units over the service period will result for most participants. There are specialvesting provisions for the stock units related
to a change in control.

Restricted stock units that vest immediately or have one-year vesting periods are also issued under the LTIP to members of the
board of directars in connection with annual director compensation and, from time to time, are issued to members of
management in connection with employee compensation.

Compensation expense for non-vested stock units is recorded over the vesting period based on the fair value at the date of
grant. The fair value of stock units is the-market price of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

The following table shows a summary of the performance stock units as of December 31, 2012:

Minimum Target Maximum
Pertormance Period Shares Sharas Shares
2011 -2012 , 0 84,342 126,513
20122014 0 100,031 150,047

The following table shows a summary of the status and activity of non-vested stock awards for the year ended December 31,
2012

Weighted Average

Restricted  Performance Total Grant Date Falr

Stock Units Stock Units Stock Units Vahue per Unit
Non-vested at January 1, 2012 156,665 297,715 -454,380 $26.43
Granted 67,012 104,598 171,610 $38.35
Credited from dividends 3,779 7,072 10,851 $35.67
Performance stock unit-adjustment 040, 11240, 112 $10.68
Vested (85,187) (87,013) - (172,200) $18.69
Forfeited (6,471)+(13,583):+ - (19,754) $36.00
Non-vested at December 31, 2012 136,098 268,677 404,775 $36.11

Stock options to executive officers vest and become exercisable upon the corpletion of a three-year service period commencing
on the grant date. The stock options have a term of 10 years. In the event of termination of employment, other than
retirement, death or disability, any non-vested options are forfeited for most participants. In the event of termination of
employment due to retirement, death or disability, pro-rata vesting of the options over the service period will result for most
participants. There are special vesting provisions for the stock options related to a change in control.




Inaccordance with accounting standards, tompensation expense for non-vested stock options is recorded:-over the vesting <
pariod based-on the fair value at the date:of grant. The faif value of ﬂock options on the date of grant is calculated u sing '*hca
Blacks )mi}nﬁ% Ner on modeland d\p assumptions Tisted below:

Febrgary 2011 Grant .- August 2070.Grant
¥ ! .

Grant date price per share of oplion award $40.26 $20.00.
Expecied %:iwééend yie%’ci ;3@;: share 250% ... 2.50%
Bxpected 65 o 6.5
xpected Qsagdjty 60.00% - 62.00%.
Risk-frewintarestrate 202% 305%
Grant date falr vai Je pershare of option awards f‘i«f! 928 : i 982

»m:% gxeld isbased onthe Company'scurrent and prospective dividend rate-which calculates a contintious dividend

{upon the market price of the underlving common sfock: The expected life in years is based on the simplified method

unider Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 14d,2 which calculates the average of the
g term ;md the c;mtramml e of rhe ommn This me»::mod was wimvd duo the lack of r mtorm% exercise

permi
weigf“z* cla g
dma with 1

the histaric
the XD

,aed cm UMS'TN? asury bi

al vuidt my of wrwr Qtf er mmziar publtc u*»mpame% The rzsk free m‘cere% Fct(:‘ is b
ad life of the option

foliowiny tazsze,shfjws assummary-of the status.and activity of stock options for the year ended Decemnber 31, 2012

Weightad A

Helghied Averste I
ExereiseFrice. Contrsciual

Ootions per Rption (n y(?n;}ISZ
Gutstanding at Jaruary 1, 2012 353,452 $27.65
Grartted - 95,899 $38.21
sed (H03,719)- 31569
(2,413) $39.99
(11,420 $36.00
Outstanding al December 31, 2012 231,799 $34.07 7.10 B
Exert]

December 31, 2012 116,849 $30.27 4.87 $0.9

Total stocks bawmw ensation wpermea rec ognized for the threé years ended Dc»z exmber 31, 201 s as follows:

Yegr Ended Dacembisr 31,

2010

{aitars #

e

Stock-baset compersation expénie 1

:ogeneral and administrative expenses 689453483
Less f?ia’?ed income tax benefit 2B 2.0 3
Decrease | in pat income attributable to Koppers 493533 %20

A5 of December 31, 2012 total future compensation expense related 1o nonsvested stockbased compensation arrangemerits
totaled 58:2 mition and the' weightedraverage [ 1+ over which this expense s expected to be recognized is.approximatily
Tnonths




7. Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision

Components of the Company's income tax provision from continuing operations are as follows:

Years Ended Decernber 31,

2012 2011 2010
{Dollars in millions)
Current;
Federal $15.7 - 3247 $10.0
State 1.3 T 0.4
Foreign 86 215 +7133
Total current tax provision 256  47.3 237
Deferred:
Federal 4.9 (6.7) 4.1
State , (12) 01 03
Foreign ' 4.0 (2.0 08
Total deferred tax provision (benefit) 7.7 (8.6) 5.2
Total income tax provision $33.3 $387 4289

Income hefore income taxes for 2012, 2011 and 2010 included $42.6 million, $51.8 million and $51.0, respectively, from
foreign operations.

The provision for income taxes is reconciled with the federal statutory rate as follows:

Years Ended-December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Federal income tax rate 35.0% - 350% 350%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit (0.5 0.7 0.7
Foreign earnings taxed at different rates 05 14 2.4
Domestic production:activities deduction : (2.7 (1.3) 0.7)
Non-deductible fines and penalties ‘ \ 0.0 0.2 0:0
Deferred tax ‘adjustments , {0.3) 0.4 0.0
Change in tax contingency reserves a \ 1.2 3.8 0.2
Foreign tax credits (0.6) 0.0 0.0
QOther 05 0.3 1.7

33.1% 40.2% .-39.3%

The Company has not provided any U:S. tax on tndistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries or joint ventures that are
reinvested indefinitely. At December 31, 2012 consolidated retained earnings of the Company included approximately $113
million of undistributed earnings, which are permanently invested, from these foreign entities Itis not practical at this time;
however, to estimate the amount of taxes that may be payable on the distribution of these earnings.

Taxes Excluded from Net Income Attributable to Koppers

The amount of income tax provision (benefit) included in comprehensive income but excluded from net income attributable to
Koppers relating to adjustments to reflect the unfunded status of employee post-retirement benefit plans is $2.2-million, $(9.3)
million and $(0.8) million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The amount of income tax benefit included in shareholders’ equity but excluded from net income attributable to Koppers
relating to the expense for restricted stock and employee stock options recognized differently for financial and tax reporting
purposes was $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010.




Deterred Tax Assets and Liahilities

Date e taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differenices between the carfying amounts of assets-and liabilities:
r fimancial reporting purpeses and the amounts used for income tax purposes.

and liabilities are as follows:

Signiticant components of the Company’s deferred tax asset

Déterrod ax assets
Pension and other postretirement benatits obligations
Reserves including insurance, environmental arid deferred revenue 2B 298
cried emploves compensation ) g e

9.7 (e

Metoperating loss benef 9.4 122
irement obligations 5.1 5
axcinventory accounting differences 261
Capltal loss benefit ' 155
Cther : 4.7 28
Valuation: allowance (74 0D
Total deferred tax assats 855914

Dieterrad Tax iablitiey

over book deprecigtion and amor 276
Unremitted sarnings of foreign subsid 651
Tawhook inventory accounting differences 1.7
Other 55

Total deferred-tax liabilities 4% 40,49

Net deferred tax assets i ’ 459 “? 4§ ::C‘

A valus alowance Is provided whien it is morelikely than not that some portion or all:of the deferred tax gssets wi ﬂ Bot b@
maimm cember 31, 2012, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $7.1 million for certain state net
ls ; "orwafdvs amicipawu 1o producgea no-tax ;)em@ﬂ't Tre ¢ Qmpany Pas r@mrd@d a vah:ai‘m &Hmwam*e of $8:8.

)2

wriition; wh!f“’f wsd expire from 201 i §16; ?G
expiresin 2019,

For the yesrended.on Decembe 2012, the Company recorded a net valuation allowance release of $1.5 million on the
basis of managemest s determination that sultficent positive-evidence exists fo support that cerfain state net operating losses
are migretiken than net tobe realized:

Uncartain Tax Positions

15 i ULS Tederal jurisdiction, individual U S, state jurisdictions and
subject to' S federal; state and local; ornomsLl S

e

sanvorone of its subsidiaries files thcome tax returs
pon-tk :j; dictionsWith-few exceptions, jae Companyisno o
income tax examinations by tax authorties foryears b@mr@ JQ%




As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized,; would affect the
effective tax rate, was approximately $5.5 million and $7.1 million, respectively. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending
amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

December 31,

2012 2017 2010

{Dallars in mitlions)

Balance at beginning of year $99 %65 %540
Additions based on tax-provisions related to the current year 0.5 40 04
Additions for tax provisions of prior years 13 0.0 2.6
Reductions of tax provisions of prior years / 05 00 00
Reductions as a result of payments-and settlements {2.8) 0.0 0.0
Reductions as a result of a lapse of the applicable statute of limitations 0.7 (0.6) (0.5
Bajance at end of year $7.7 499 $65

The Company recognizes interest expense and any related penalties from uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. For
each year ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Company recognized $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million,
respectively, in interest and penalties. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had accrued approximately $1.3
million and $0.9 million for interest and penalties, respectively.

8. Segment Information

The Company has two reportable segments: Carbon Materials & Chemicals and Railroad & Utility Products. The Company’s
reportable segments are business units that offer different products. The reportable segments are each managed separately
because they manufacture and distribute distinct products with different production processes. The business units have been
aggregated into two reportable segments since management believes the long-term financial performance of these business
ufiits is affected by similar economic conditions.

The Company’s Carbon Materials & Chemicals segment is primarily a manufacturer of carbon pitch, naphthalene, phthalic
anhydride, creosote and carbon black feedstock. Carbon pitch is a critical raw. material.used in-the production of aluminum and
for the production of steel in electric arc furnaces. Naphthalene is used for the production of phthalic anhydride and as a
surfactant in the production of concrete. Phthalic anhydride is used in the production of plasticizers, polyester resins and alkyd
paints. Creosote is used in the treatment of wood and carbon black feedstock is used in the production of carbon black.

The Company’s Railroad & Utility Products segment sells treated and untreated wood products, manufactured products and
services primarily to the railroad and public utility markets. Railroad products include procuring and treating items such as
crossties, switch ties and various types of lumber used for railroad bridges and crossings and the manufacture of rail joint bars.
Utility products include transmission and distribution poles and pilings.

The Company evaluates performance and determines resource allocations based on a number of factors, the primary measure
being operating profit or loss from operations. Operating profit does not include equity in earnings of affiliates; otherincome,
interest expense or income taxes. Operating profit also excludes the operating costs of Koppers Holdings Inc.; the parent
rompany-of Koppers Inc. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. Intersegment transactions are eliminated in consolidation.




ment Operations

Resultsiof

i e 51,

Revenues fram external cust :
Carhon Materials & Chemicals $ 9987 § ‘043
Railfoad & Ut ity Products 5553 5234 4499

Total - . LG EEE G ST ABE 2§ 1008

intercegimentrevenuas: e
Carbon Wisterials & Chemicals $ 1065 3 957 § 979

Depraciation & amortization: ;
Carbon Materials & Chernicals $ 169.§ 174 % 72
Railroad & Utifity Products : : g : el

T 282 4

Operating profit. R PRI

Carbon Materals & Chemicals - $..831 % 891 & 7

A
e
ey
3 ;g"—'i

Railroag & Wtility Products 451 348 B
Corporate@ (1.6 (1 (rigy

Ay

Tertal 1266 % 1227 % 981

Capital expeaditures tincluding acquisitions): e
Carbon Materials & Chemicals Cenenesb SATB8 030 4449
Rallroag 8-Utility Products . 250 10:2
Corporate i e

Total - 5 Y4298 .33

{~u
5500
&

¢

Ak
o
Y
553
5

sergting fass for Corporate inchides generaland adiministrative Costs Tor-Koppers Holdings Ine the parént company of Koppers fic

Assets arid Goodwill by Segment

: i $516:3
Raiiroad & Utility Products : ) 205.0

Segrent assets
Cashdcashequivalents
dneome tanfetelvable:
Deferred taxes

Deferred financing costs
Deterred charges 2.8
Other 7.0

Total $780.0

g

5:& Chemicals $ 702 % 694
by Praducts 5.4 2.7

Total $ 56 % T2




Revenues and Long-lived Assets by Geographic Area

Long-lived
Yeal Revenie assets

(Dollars'in millions)

United States 20012 % 8276  $162.9
201 787.5 1616
2010 672.5 1571

Australasia 2012 2189 72.4
2011 276.6 587
2010 2219 79.8

Europe 2012 0 2478 . 363
2011 248.0 35.7
2010 194.0 358

Other countries 2012 160.7 0.0
2014 1543 0.0

’ ’ 2010 1021 0.0

Total : , 2042.:%1.555.0. $271:6

2011 $1,466.2 $256.0
2010 $1,190.5$272.7

Revenues by geographic area in the above table are attributed by the destination country of the sale. Revenues from non-U.5,
countries totaled $727.4 million in 2012, $681.1 million in 2011 and $573.0 million in 2010.

Segment Revenues for Significant Product Lines

Year Ended December 37,

2012 2011 2010
{ollars in millions) o ‘
Carbon Materials & Chemicals:
Carbon pitch $ 4424 ¢ 4311 § 3256
Creosote and carbon black feedstock 233.8 162.0 104.4
Phthalic anhydride 120.0 112.4 93.9
Naphthalene 60.3 72.3 68.0
Other products 1432 165.3 148.7
999.7 9431 740.6
Railroad & Utility Products:
Railroad crossties 3413 3249 2825
Utility poles ) 1013 842 733
Creosote 57.0 527 57.9
Rail joint bars 256 24.7 04
Other products : 30.3 36.6 36.7

3 v 252341 449.9
Total $1,555.0 $1,466.2 $1,190.05




9. Invertories

lnventoties asof Decomber 31, 2012 and 20171 were as follows:

Raw rriaterials
Work in process
Finished goods

vakiation to. HED

For the year ended Decernber 31, 2011, liquidations of LIFO inventorias increased operating profit by $0.3 million: .
10. Equity inwstmenm
vy halds wa investments in unconsolidated comparies. KSA Limited Partrership is a 50 percent owned conicrete
ation located in Portsmouth, Ohjo. Tangshan Koppers Kailuan Carbon Chemiical Company Limited (“TKK” is & 30+
Hebel Province of China. No dividends were paid for the three years ended

e threeyears ended December 31, 2012 were as follows:

The-Cormps
Erosstie ot
percent owned tar distillation facility in
Decernber 31,2012 Egulty in earnings

Equity insome

1. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, piant and equipment as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

becsmber 31,

$.70 5 66
Buildirigs ) 36. 4. ..347
Machinery and squipment ‘ G166 85935

BE0DD. B34.8

Less aecumidated depreciation 4989 4797

et : $161.1 41556

ecember 31, 2012,-2011 and 2010 amounted fo $25.2 million, $46.0 milfion &fm
$25:6; respictively. frcluded in d 1 expense m 2012, 2017 and 2010 were impairment charges totaling $0.6 m

202 milion and S1.8 million, - resner 'w v The chargein 20121 af@d to g Railroac and Ulility Products segmant’s electy "“tv
‘wegeneration plant-in thetnited States. The chatye in 2011 related 1o the Carbon Material & Chemicals segment’s. carbon
ack facility iﬂ Agz‘cra,m and.the har’w' 2010 relatedito a Raflroad and Utility Products segment’s wood treating plant in the
United §

Lepreciation experse for the vears ¢

I Feby 2012, approximately 400 tons of liquid carbon piteh leaked from a storage tank at the Company’s terminal facility in
Pottland, Victoria, Australia. All of the coal tar pitch-was contairied within the tank farn area and was recovered. Costs diractly

mcszc% with the leak were $2.5 million for the vear ended December 31, 2012, net of estimated-insurance recoveries
mmtmg $3:2 million which is rm:zrdmd invother current assets. Expenses assodiated with the incident include inventory losses,
ernergency response expenses, incremental logistics expenses, and material clean-up and removal experises,




12. Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each business segment forthe years ended December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011 was as follows:

Carbon Materials & Rallroad &
Chemicals  Utility Products Tatal

(Dollars in miffions) ) )

Balance at December-31, 2010 - $69.6 $2.5 $72.1
Acquisitions 0.1 0.3 0.4
Currency transtation ©.3) 0.1 0.4)

Balance at December 31, 2011 69.4 . 2.7 721
Acquisitions 0.0 26 2.6
Currency translation : 0.8 iy 0.9

Balance at December 31, 2012 §70.2 $54 $75.6

The Company’s identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are being amortized over their estimated useful-lives-and-are
summarized below: i ‘

December 31,

2013 & 2011
Grass:
Carrying - -Accumulated

Net  Amount. Amortization Net

{Dolfars in millions) /
Custormer contracts $20090 % 815128 $123 - §68 455
Supply contracts 2:8 08 2002 05 22
Non-compete agreements 17 1 0.5 1.2 12 0.0
Favorable lease agreements 0.8 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.5 0.3
Total §26.2  $10.9  $153 $17.0  $90  $8.0

In:2012, the gross carrying value of identifiable intangible assets increased by $8.9 million due to acquisitions-and by $0.3
million due to-foreign currency translation. In 2011, the gross carrying value of identifiable intangible assets decreased by $0.8
milliort due to the finalization of purchase price adjustrments from prior year acquisitions and by $0.2 million due to foreign
currency translation. The customer contracts have estimated useful-lives of 10 to 15 years, the supply contracts have estimated
useful lives of 10 years, the non-compete agreements have estimated useful lives of 3 to 12 years and-the favorable lease
agreements have estimated useful lives of 3 years. Total amortization expense related to these identifiable intangible assets was
$1.9 million. $1.5 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Estimated
amortization expense for the next five years is summarized below: /

Estimated

annual

amortization

(Doflars in miflions) /

2013 319
2014 18
2015 18

2016 ta

2017 1.2




13, Debt

Debtatdy B 200 was as folfows:

s

cornber 31, 2012 dnd December 3

Bege

interest: ‘?ar@

0.00% - 2015
‘;t%i?;”.!f}f iiﬁez ' THEY . 2019

ong-term debt 00 o0

m{;« ermydebt \exa liding current portion)

Revolving Credit-Facility

Thie Koppersinc revalving credit facility agreemenit provides for a revolving creditfacility-of Upto $300 0 milioh at varable
rates. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of the assets of Koppers
Inceand its materlal domestic subsidiaries. The f@vmvmq credit facility contains certain covenants for Koppers Incand its

t icted subsidiaries that imit capital expenditures, additional indebtedness, liens, dividends, investments or acquisitions. In
o, such-covenants give rise to events of default upon the fallure by Kcnpers inc.and its restricted subsidiaties to mest
ncial ratios. Commitment fees totaled $1.0 million 1n 2012, $1.1 million in 2011 and $1.3 million in 2010 and are
charged 1o irterest eXpense;

certain il

As Of Decernber 31, 2012, the Company had :%QC?O O-million of unused revolving credit availability for working capital purposes
i tions from-Lertalit letter of cradit commiitmants and other covenants. As of December 217 2017, $40:0 million of
neats were-ytilized by outstanding 1@{?@?3 of credit.

Senior Notes

s ncs 7, ;)erwfi Senior-Notes due 2019 (the “Senior Notes”) were'issued on December 1, 2009 at an offéring
percent offace value, 0r $294.9 millloniand have & principal-amount at maturty of $300.0:million, The Semar
o an effective interest rate vield-of 81/ percent perannum: The Serfior Notes are unsecured senior obligations that are
ek urniconditionally guaranteed by Koppers Holdings and certain of Koppers Inc.'s wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries..
Senior Notes are structiirally subbrdinated torindebtednbss under the revolving credit facility. S

onthe Senior Notés s payable sserr fannually on Dec Gmbar and June 1 each vear, On or after Dwf@mb@r 20 Ms’ %we
pany Sentitled to redeerm all or a po: tion of the Senior Notes at a redemption price of 103.938 percent of m il
declining annually in ratable amounts until the redemption price is eguivalent to the principal value on December 1, 2

01 “/.
Theindentare governing the Senior Notes includes custamary cavenants that restrict, among other things, the ability of Koppers
e and s restricted subsidiaries 1o incur additional debt, pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments, incur lieng,
erge orsell all or substantially all-of the'assets of Kappers Inc. or its-sulisidiaries-or enter into various fransactions with
attliates.

g




Debt Maturities and-Deferred Financing Costs..

At December 317 2012 the aggregate debt maturities for the next five yeéi‘s are as follows:

{Dolfars in millions)

2013 ' $ 00
2014 ’ 0.0
2015 B - 0.0
2016 0.0
2017 0.0
Thereafter : 300.0
Total maturities D 300.0
Future accretion on Senior Notes ’ (3.9)
Total debt . $296.1

Unamortized de‘ferred financing costs (net of accumulated amortization of $4.6 million and $3.4 million at December 31, 2012
and 2011, respectively) were $7.2 million and $8.3 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and are included in
other assets.

14. Leases

Future minimum commitments for operating leases having non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows:

(Dollars in milfions)

2013 $31.8
2014 152
2015 9.9
2016 7.6
2017 53
Thereafter 30.0

Total $99.8

Operating lease expense for 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $44.3 million, $43.8 million and $42.5 million, respectively.

15. Pensions and Post-retirement Benefit Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries maintain a number of defined benefit and defined contribution plans to provide retirement
benefits for employees in the U.S., as well as employees outside the U.S. These plans are maintained and contributions are
made in accordance with the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA"), local statutory law or as determined
by the board of directors. The defined benefit pension plans generally provide benefits based upon years of service and
compensation. Pension plans are funded except for three domestic non-qualified defined benefit pension plans for certain key
executives.

All qualified defined benefit pension plans for salaried employees have been closed to new participants and a number of plans,
including most plans for hourly employees, have been frozen or are scheduled to be frozen in the next two years. Accordingly,
these pension plans no longer accrue additional years of service or recognize future increases in compensation for benefit
purposes. In addition, a number of pension plans are subject to a “soft” freeze which precludes new employees from entering
the defined benefit pension plans.

The defined contribution plans generally provide retirement assets to employee participants based upon employer and employee
contributions to the participant's individual investment account. The Company also provides retiree medical insurance coverage
to certain U.S. employees and a life insurance benefit to most U.S. employees. For salaried employees, the retiree medical and
retiree insurance plans have been closed to new participants.




Expense related to defined contribution plans totaled $4.7 million, $4.8 milliori arid $4.7 million for the yearsiended o0 1
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Expense related to contributions to multi-employer pension plaris totaled
$04 millien, $0.7 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Net periodic pension costs for 2012, 2011 and 2010 were as follows:

Pension Benefits

2012 20711 2010 201z J01 2000
{Qa;’farz in railiicng)

Components of net periodic benefit
Servics cost 035 % 33 %31 500 %0z o tow
interast ¢ost 07U 14 05T 007
Expected return on plan assets (0.7 (11D . ©Y 00 0 0o
Arnortization of prior service cost 01 0.4 02700 01 (0
- Amortization of net loss . , e 8.1 52000 S0 00
Amortization of transition asset , \ ‘ (0:3) ©3 00 00 00
Settle hd curtailments ’ 03 05 00 0O 00

?*éezt gzerigdi%: benefit cost $ 117 0% 97 $3OQ_ 06307 508

Net periodic pension cost that is expected to be recognized from the amortization of prior setvice cost and net loss is estimated
to total $0.1 millien and $7.7 million, respectively, for all plans in 2013,




The change in the funded status of the pension and postretirement plans as of December 31, 2012:and December 31, 201 1:0s
as follows:

Decempber 31,
Pension Benetits Other Benefits
2012 2011 2012 2011

(Doltars in miflions)
Change in benefitobligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year

Rl
Lt
WO
Ut

$2159 $125 $12.8

Service cost 35 33 0.1 0.1
Interest cost 10.7 11.2 0.5 0.6
Plan participants’ contributions 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.0
Actuarial losses (gains) 10.3 20.2 (1.8)  (0.5)
Settlements o (1.4) (0.8 0.0 0.0
Currency translation 2.4 0.3) 0.0 0.0
Benefits paid (10.0)  (10:2) 0.1 (0.5
Benefit obligation at end of year 2552 2395 112 125
Changein plan-assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 146.6 1416 0.0 0.0
Actual return onplan assets 15.7 01 0.0 0.0
Employer contribution 224 15.9 0.1 05
Plan participants’” contributions. 0.2 02 4.0 0.0
Settlements {1.4) 0.8) 0.0 0.0
Currency translation 21 (0:2y = =00 0.0
Benefits paid {100y (10.2) nn (05
Fairvalue of plan‘assets-at'end-of year 1756 1466 0.0 0.0
Funded status of the plan {79.6) $(92.9) $(11.2) $(12.5)
Arnounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of: :
Noncurrent assets ¢ 02 % 03 % 00 % 00
Current liabilities , \ . 04 0.7 0.7 1.0
Noncurrent liabilities 79.4 92.5 105 115
Pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets: ,
Benefit obligation $247.5 $2315
Fair value of plan assets 1676 1383
Pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets: )
Accumulated benefit obligation $229.0 %2241
Fair value of plan assets 167.6 1383

The measurement date for all pension and postretirement assets and obligations is December 31 for each respective year.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $235.9 million
and $231.5 million, respectively.

Expected Contributions for the 2013 Fiscal Year

The expected contributions by the Company for 2013 are estimated to be $22.7 million for pensxon plans-and $0:8 mitlion for
otherbenefit: plans : :



Projected Benetit Paymerits

Benedit payments ‘or pension benefits, which are pfzmaniv funded by the pension plan assets, and other benelits, which are
funded by general corporate-assets and reflecting futura expected service as appropriate, are expected to be paid as follows:

Lathe

Pension Benelits

$11:3 508
14 08
1.8 08
13.0 08
85 08
74.0 4

Weightetl-dverage Assumptions as-of December 31

ion Benefits SO Hmri«»m
e L s S i

%w ¥ 201 201 j
Digcount rate L 433%. 455% : 4“\:37%
Bxpected return on plan assets 725 7168
Rate of compensationincrease 30 3.09
lnitial medical trend-rate T80

Basis for the Selection of the Long-Term Rate of Return on Assets

Thileng-lerm tate of return on assets assumption was determined by using the plan’s asset allocation as described in the plan's
vestment policy and modeling a distribution of compound avérage ’Q’M%’ s overa 20-yeartime horizon. the model ties as

*“f«;c; retuny \sanance ;md wm«a!a J‘udﬂ‘ p‘( Ons m modu( et ho ew\pe cted return, ha refum aysumpt Om med %mwérd

PRI OrEAsSETs-assy nprmn, mfa (wmmpany cons td@wd the hlsmrrcal r@turm cmd the Fuzﬁure exp@fmmns ’mr returns for caxam
asset class, a8 well as the target asset allocation of the pension portf@izo.

Investment Stratégy

The welghted average asset allocation for the Company’s pension plans at December 31 by asset category is as follows;

Equity seciiyities 64%
Debt s&zufsttes 30

Other : : 4 &

100% - T00%

owmii inves trment vtu— c:gy i$ 10 achmw a-mix of grmvvth wekmq m@ta prmupaliy U S. and mt@rmtmm public
curities and incorme generating assets, principally debt securities, real estate and cash. Currently, the



Company targets an allocation of 60 percent to 70 percent growth seeking assets and 30 percent to 40 percentincome
generating assets on an overall basis. The Company utilizes investment managers to assist in identifying and manitoring
investrnents that meet these allocation criteria. With respect to the largesi‘z pension plan, the Company:has implemented a
strategy of reallocating pension assets from growth seeking assets to income generating assets as certain funded status levels
are reached.

The investment valuation policy of the Company is to value investments at fair value. Most of the assets are invested in pooled
or commingled investment vehicles. The Company's interest in these investment vehicles is expressed as a unit of account with.a
value per unit that is the result of the accumulated values of the underlying investments. Equity securities held within these
investment vehicles are typically priced on a daily basis using the closing market price from the exchange the security is traded:
Debt securities held within these investrment vehicles are typically priced on a daily basis by independent pricing services: The fair
value of real estate investments are either priced through a listing on an exchange or are subject to periodic appraisals.

The pension assets are all substantially held in pooled or commingled investment vehicles. The following table sets forth by level,
the Company’s pension plan assets at fair value, within the fair value hierarchy, as of December 31, 2012 and Decemnber 37,
2001

As of December 31, 2012

Ouoted prices
inactive  Significant Significant
markets for  observable  unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
(Lavelt) {Level 2} {tevel 3 Total
(Dollars ir: millions)
U.S. equity securities $0.0 $ 80.0 $0.0. $80.0
international equity securities 0.0 27.2 0.0 27.2
S, debt securities 0.0 36.4 0.0 364
international debt securities 0.0 24.5 0.0 245
Real estate and other investments 0:0 1.7 0.0 1.7
Cash and cash equivalents ) 0.0 58 g 58

$0.0 $175.6 $0.0 $175.6

‘AsofDacember:31, 2011

Quoted prices

in active  Significant Stgnificant

markets for  observable  unobservable

identical assets inputs inplits
(Level 1) (Level:2) (evel 3) Total

(Daollars in miflions)

U5 equity securities $0.0 $ 7187300 §718
International equity securities 0.0 22600 22.6
U.S. debt securities 0.0 22.0 0.0 22.0
International debt securities 0.0 224 0.0 22.4
Real estate and other.investments 0.0 1.6 0.0 1.6
Cash and cash eguivalents 0.0 6.2 0.0 6.2

$0.0 $146.6 $0.0 $ 146.6




Health Cave Cost Trend Rates

The 2017 initial health care cost trend rate \i a‘%w*ﬁéa |10 be 7.35 percent and is assumed to decrease gradually to 4.5 percent
in 2027 and remain at that level therea xf@r The assumed health care cost trend rate has a significant effect on the amounts
reported for other postretirement benefit liability, A on e-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate
weauld have the *‘a lowing effects:

1% fnoreasd: o1 I
L ahions) . .
Increase f.des: sasel from change inchealth care costdrend rates: : : :
Postretitement benefit expense e 800 £ 00
Postrelivesnent banetit labiliny T . 0.2

Inicentive Plan

The Company has short-term management incentive plans that pay cash bonuses if certain Company performance antl
b g s

16, Common Stock-and Senior Convertible Preferred Stock

o

Changes risenior convertible preferred stock, common stock and treasury stock for the three years ended December 31,2014

areas ol

YariE Gopmbei 3]
2072 A
3 fi*sk;w Pratorrorst © :
e é‘f beyinning and end of year O g g
s Stocks
Balance at betzm ing of year 21309 21278 21,124
lssyed dor employee stock plans 176 cX 154
Balance at end of year 24,585 21,309 21,278
Freasiiny ‘

Balance at beginning of year (706) . (700)  (669)
Shares repurchased (245) ®) (31
Balance at end of year o OEY (706) (700

i Fazr Vaiae of Financial Instruments

Carrying amounts and the related estimated falr values of the Company’s finandial instruments as of December 31,2012 &nd
201 1 are a5 follows: :

Decemmber 31 2017 Lretersbor 31,2011

CHrryiog
Faif Vialae Value FawValue
ant cash equivalents § 667 § 667 $ 541 5 540
Investments and other assetse 1.4 1.4 1.3 1.3
Fipancial
Lorigs érmd&}mm!uqucmemtp(ar‘ﬁon) $331.1 %2969 - $324.4 33021

fa)-Exclides eifiity rhethotlinvestments.



Cash =The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

Investments and other assets - Represents the broker-quoted cash surrender value on life insurance policies. The cash surrender
valueasset is classified as Level 2 in the valuation hierarchy-and is'measured from values received from the insuring entity.

Long-term debt — The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is estimated based on the market prices for the same or
similar issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt ofthe same remaining maturities (Level 2). The fair values
of the revolving credit facility for 2011 approximate carrying value due to the variable rate nature of these instruments.

18. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in litigation and various proceedings relating to env ironmental laws and
requlations and toxic tort, product liability and other matters. Certain of these matters are discussed below. The ultimate
resolution of these contingencies is subject to significant uncertainty and should the Company or its subsidiaries fail to prevail in
any of these legal matters or should several of these legal matters be resolved against the Company or its subsidiaries in the
same reporting period, these legal matters could, individually or in the aggregate, be material to the consolidated fmanaa!
statements.

Legal Proceedings

Coal Tar Pitch Cases. Koppers Inc., along with other defendants, is currently a defendant in mwsuxts filed in-three states in
which the plaintiffs claim they suffered a variety of illnesses (including cancer) as a result of exposure to coal tar pitch sold by
the defendants. There are approximately 136 plaintiffs in 75 cases pending as of December 31, 2012 as compared to 131
plaintiffsin'73 cases at December 31, 2011. As of December 31,2012, there are a total of 70 cases pendmg instate courtin
Pennsylvania, four in Arkansas, and one case pending in state court in Tennessee.

The plaintiffs in all 75 pending cases seek to recover compensatory damages, while plaintiffs in 67 cases also seek 1o recover
punitive damages. The plaintiffs in the 70 cases filed in Pennsylvania state court seek unspecitied damages in excess of the
court’s minimum jurisdictional limit. The plaintiffs in the Arkansas state court cases each seek compensatory damages in excess
of $50,000 in addition to punitive damages. The plaintiffs in the Tennessee state court case each seek damages of $15.0
millior. The other defendants in these lawsuits vary from case 16 case and include companies stch as Beazer East, Inc., United
States Steel Corporation; Honeywell International Inc., Vertellus Specialties Inc., Dow Chemical Company, Rust-Oleum
Corporation, UCAR Carbon Company, Inc., Exxon Mobil Corporation, Chemtura Corparation, SGL Carbon Corporation, Alcoa,
Inc., and PPG Industries, Inc. Discovery is proceeding in these cases. No trial dates have been set in any of these cases.

The Company has not provided a reserve for these lawsuits because, at this time, the Company cannot reasonably determine
the probability of a loss, and the amount of loss, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. The timing of resolution of these cases
cannot be reasonably determined. Although Koppers Iric. Is vigorously defending these cases, an unfavorable resolution of these
matters may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, cash flows and results of
operations,

Gainesville. Koppers Inc. operated a utility pole treatment plant in Gainesville from December 29, 1988 until its closure in
2009, The property upon which the utility pole treatment plant was located was sold by Koppers Inc. to Beazer East, Inc. i
2010,

In November: 2010, a class action complaint was filed in the Circuit: Court of:the Eighth Judicial Circuit located in Alachua
County, Florida by residential real property owners located in & neighborhood west of and immediately adjacent to the former
utility pole treatment plant in Gainesville. The complaint named Koppers Holdings Inc., Koppers Inc., Beazer East and several
other parties as defendants. The complaint alleges that chemicals and dust from the plant have contaminated -and impacted
plaintiffs” properties by reducing the fair market value. The complaint seeks injunctive relief and compensatory damages for
diminutionin property values and for plaintiffs' loss of use and enjoyment of the properties.

The case was removed to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Florida in December 2010: Koppers
Holdings Inc. filed a motion to dismiss alleging that the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over it The Court has not yet ruled-on
Koppers Holdings Inc.’s motion to dismiss. Discovery and all prior deadlines were stayed for nine months until January 2013
while the parties explored settlement possibilities. The stay was recently lifted and plaintiffs have indicated that they will file
another amended complaint which further expands the boundaries of the “class affected area,” introduces arsenic and
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Koppers Holdings Inc. 2012 Annus! Repodt

closing environmental liabilities through July 2019, As consideration for the armendment, KoppersIne. paid Beazer Easta total
of $7.0'millior and agreed to share toxic tort Iitigation defense costs arising from any sites dcquired from Beazer East: The July
2004 amendment did not change the provisions of the Indemnity with respect to indemnification for non-environmental claim
such-as product liability claims, which claims may continue to be asserted after July 2019.

Qualified expenditures under the Indemnity are not subject to a monetary limit“Qualified expenditures ur nder the Indemnity
include (i) environmental cleanup liabilities required by third parties, such as investigation, remediation and closure costs,
relating to pre-December 29, 1988, or (" Pre-Closing”), acts or omissions of Beazer East or | its predecessors; (i) environmental
claims by third parties for personal injuries, property damages and natural resources darnages relating to Pre-Closing acts or
omissions of Beazer East or its predecessors; (iii) punitive damages for the acts or omissions of Beazer East and its predecessors
without regard to the date of the alleged conduct and (iv) product liability claims for products s0ld by Beazer Eastor its
predecessors without regard to the date of the alleged conduct. If the third party claims described in sections (i) and (i) above
are potmade by July 2019, Beazer East will not be required to pay the costs arising from such claims under the Indemnity.
However, with respect to any such claims which are made by July 2019, Beazer East will continue to be responsible for such
claims under the Indermnity beyond July 2019. The Indemnity provides for the resolution of issues between Koppers Inc. and
Beazer East by an arbitrator on an expedited basis upon the request of either party. The arbitrator could be asked, among other
rhmqs to'make a determination regarding the allocation of environmental reqponsrbmtr@s between Koppers Inc. and Beazer
ast. Arbmrmton decisions under the Indemnity are fmal and binding on the pames

Con tammahon has been identified at most manufacturmg and other sites of ths‘s t’“ompdny ssubsidiaries. Two sites currently
owned and operated by Koppers Inc. in the United States are listed on the National Priorities List promulgated under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended: (" CERCLA"Y, Currently,-at the
properties acquired from Beazer East (which include all of the National Priorities List si ites and all but one of the sites permitted
under the Resaurce Conservation and Recovery Act("RCRA”)), a significant portion of all investigative, cleanup and closure
activities are being-conducted and paid for by-Beazer East pursy jant to the terms of the Indemnity. In-addition; other of
Koppers Inc.'s sites are or have been operated under RCRA and various other environmental permits, and remedial and closure
activities are being conducted at some of these sites. :

To date, the parties that retained, assumed and/or agreed. to indemni I‘y the Company against the liabilities {efefred to.above,

including Beazer East, have performed their obligations in all material respects. The Company believes that, for the last three
years ended Decemnber 31, 2012, amounts paid by Beazer East as a result of its environr mental remediation obligations under
the Indemnity have averaged in total approximately $16 million per year. Periodi cally, issues have arisen between Koppers Inc.
and Beazer Bast and/or other indemnitors that have been resolved without arbitration Koppers Inc. and Beazer East engage in
discussions from time ta time that involve, among other thmgs, the allocation of énvironmental costs related to certain
operating and closed facilities: , :

If for any reason (including disputed coverage or financial incapability) one or more of such parties fail to perform their
obligations and the Company or its subsidiaries are held liable for or otherwise required to pay all or part of such liabilities
without reimbursernent, the imposition of such liabilities on the Company ot its subsidiaries could have a materia I adverse effect
onits business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. Furthermore, the Company could be required to record
a contingent liability on its balance sheet with respect to such matters, which could resu It in a negative impact to the
Company’s business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations. :

Domestie Environmental Matters. Koppers Inc. has been named as one of the potentially responsible parties ("PRPs") at the
Portland Harbor CERCLA site located on the Willamette River in Oregon. Koppers Inc. currently operates a coal tar pitch terminal
near the site. Koppers Inc. has responded to an Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA”) information request and has executed
& PRE-agreemient which outlines the process to develop an allocation of past and future costs among more than 80 parties to
the site. Koppers Inc. believes it is a de minimus contributor at the site. Additionally, a separate natur ral resources damages
assessment (“NRDA") is being conducted by a local trustee group: The NRDA is intended to identi fyfurther information
necessary to estimate liabilities for remediation based settlements of national resource darnages ("NRD") claims. Koppers Inc.
may also incur liabilities under the NRD process and has entered into a separate process o develop anallocation of NRD cost.

On‘March 30, 2012; a draft Feasibility Study (“FS") was submitted to EPA by the Lower Willamette Group (“LWG"), & groupof
certain'PRPS which has been conducting the investigation of the site. The draft F$ identifies ten possible remedial alternatives
which range in cost from approximately $170 million to $1.8 billion. The FS does not determine who 1§ tesponsible for




remediation costs or select remedies; The FSis under review by the ER&which will issuera final decision ori the nature and:
extent of the linal remediations Respensibility fordmplerneénting end funding that work wilkbe decidediin the separate allogation
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- November 2011 the Company: loaned $13:7 million to TKK, b:30-percent owned company-in China. i‘During 200 2: TKK mada
fepayiments totaling 52 Zanillion; accoid m:}iy thesamount c>f hedaatis $9 5 million-as of December 31, 2012, Theloanis:
repayable i Noveraber 2013 ;




20. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) =

The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Year Ended December 31,2012

I Ouarter - 29 Quarter 39 Quarter 4% Quarter Fiscal Year
(Duliars in millions, except per share améunts;
Statement of operations data:
Net sales : $380.9.. $411.3 $387.9- $3749 $1,555.0
Operating profit . _ e 29.2 40.7 308 259 126.6
income from continuing operations 158 211 162 142 67.3
Net income 159 209 16.2 14.2 672
Net incorne attributable to Koppers 15.6 204 16.0 136 656
Common stock data:
Earnings (loss) per common share attributable 1o Koppers common
shareholders:®
Basic ~
Continuing.operations $ 074 % 1.00 §$ 077 % 066 $ 3.8
Discontinued operationst® : , 0.01 (0.0%) 0.00 0.00 (0.01)
Earnings per basic common share $ 075 $ 099 $ 077 %066 $ 87
Diluted - '
Continuing operations §0 7470 5°0.997 5077 - § 065 $ 314
Discontinued: operationst® 0.01 (0.01) 0.00 0.00 (0:01)
Earnings per diluted common share $ 075 %098 $077 $065 % 3.3
Dividends declared per common share § 024 $024 $024 %024 $...0.96
Price range of common stock: )
High $40.61 34037  $37.82 43883 $40.61
Low ; 3215 3147 29.30. - 3099 25.30
Year Ended becemhar 00
IstQuarter 209 Quarter 3% Quarter A% Quarter Fiscal Year
(Dollars-in millions, except per share amounts)
Statement of operations data: :
Netsales ’ $3415 $374.5 §381.2 193690 $1,466:2
Operating profit 213000383 40,1 230 122.7
Income from continuing operations 9.2 20.4 22.5 5.4 57.5
Net income (loss)@ : st G e N9 9 2T (14.0) BT6
Net income (loss) attributable to Koppers® cee 890198 224 (14.2) - ... 369
Common stock data;
Earnings (loss) per common share attributable to Koppers common
shareholders:®)
Basic -
Continuing operations $ 044 § 089 $ 107 § 025 $ 275
Discontinued operations® 0.01) {0.03) 0.01 (0.94) (0:96)
Earnings per basic cormimon share §p4%5 $ 096§ 108 35069 & 179
Diluted ~ / :
Continuing operations 4044 $ 099 $107 5024 % 272
Discontinued operations® (0.0 (0.03) 0.01 (0.93) (0.95)
Earnings per diluted common share $ 043 %096 %108 $(069) $ 77
Dividends declared per common share $ 022 $022 $022 %022 $...0.88
Price range of common stock: :
High ’ $42.88  $46.14 $39:23 7 $36.53 $ 46114
Low 3476  34.63 2359 ..24.75 23.59

(a) In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company ceased mandfacturing operations at its carbon black facility Jocated in Kumell, Australia, The casts related to this
_closure totaled $47.0 million.in the fourth quarter.of 2017. The results of operations of the carbon black facility have been reclassified to discontinued operations
for all periods presented as run-off activities were completed.in the first quarter.of 2012. i i

(b) The cumulative sur of quarterly basic and diluted net income per share amounts may not equal total basic.and diluted net income per share amounts for the
year due to differences in weighted average and equivalent shares outstanding for each of the periods presen tad '
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Consclidating
Parent  Koppers Inc Adjustments C{f}."),\‘()ﬂ{/&[é}t‘/
(Dollars in millions)
Net sales $ 0.0 $721.2 %458 £462.3 $(38.8) $1,190:5
Cost of sales including depreciation-and amortization 0.0 6577 32.5 378.8 (39.0) 1,030.0
Selling, generatand-administrative - = ¢ 1.6 32.2 3.3 253 0.0 . L b2A
Operating profit (loss) (1.6) 31.3 10.0 58.2 0:2 087
Other income{expense) 450 0.0 8.0 2.9 (53:4): =25
Interest expense (income) (0.2) 277 {5,0) 4.6 0.0 27
Income taxes {0.5) 15 12.2 15.7 0.0 289
Income from continuing.operations 441 2.1 108 408 (53.2) 44.6
Discontinued operations 0.0 0.0 (0.2) 0.1 0.0 o.M
Noncontrolling interests. 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4
Net:income attributable 1o Koppers %441 5 2.1 $106 $ 40.5 $(53.2) . §.... 440
Comprehensive income attributable to Koppers $546 % 1.8  $189 $ 430 $63.7) % 546
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2012
B SHiC :
Guarantor - Non=Guarantor Canso.—‘iéa!éng
Parent  Koppers e, Subsidianes Subsidiaries - Adjustments. - - Combolidated

(Daltarsin millions)
Cash and-cash eguivalents $ 00 % 48 % 00 §Fe1r9 - f 00 5667
Receivables; net 6.9 91.5 3249 86.8 (345.8) 164.3
Inventories, net 0.0 102.2 0.0 939+ i H03) 195:8
Deferred tax assets 00 16.4 (1.5) 02 0.0 154
Other current assets 0.0 6.4 2.8 30.1 0.0 39.3
" Yotal current assets 592213 3262 2729 (346.1)  481.2
Equity investments 148.7 771 273 3.8 (251.1) 5.8
Property, plant and equipment, net 0.0 105.7 0.0 554 0.0 161.1
Goodwill 0.0 39.8 0.0 358 0.0 756
Deferred tax assets 0.0 335 (12.4) 6.1 0.0 27.2
Other noncurrent assets 0.0 15.8 126.7 52.5 (165.9) 291

Total assets 1556 $493.2 $467.8 §426.5 $(763.1)  $780.0
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Accounts payable $ 0.1 $3717 $170  § 606 $(345.9) $1035
Accrued liabilities 4.9 15.9 12.2 447 0.0 77.7

Total current liabilities 50 387.6 29.2 105.3 (345.9) 181.2
Long-term debt 0.0 3976 0.0 64.4 (165.9) 296.1
Other long-term liabilities 0.0 101.2 24 31.0 0.0 134.6

Total liabilities 5.0 886.4 31.6 200.7 (511.8) 611.9
Koppers shareholders’ equity 1506 (393.2) 4362 208.3 (251.3) 150.6
Noncontrolling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.5 0.0 17.5

Total liabilities and equity $1556  $493.2 $467.8  $4265 $(763.1)  $780.0




Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet . e ek SR e Beniduens
December 31, 2011 SEEE ot s i e it
fomestic

Guarantor . Non-Guaranion
Pargnt  Kappers ine Supysscfiaries

AREET
Cash and cash equivalents $ 00 0000 S50 s 00 BB
Recevables, pet 55 112.6 2840 792 30vs 1705

158.0

irventories: net 0.0 74.8 8.0 84.2 0.0
Deferred 1ax assets .0 107 (1:5) 0.1 a0 ¢
Other cyrrent assets 0.0 6.8 0.3 264 0.0 A55

Total carfent-assers 55 2049 2828 244.0 (309.8) - 4i 14
Equiity Investrents 93.9 771 263 397 gen 4
Property, plant and eguipment, net 0.0 36 00 15
Goodwil : 0.0 00
Deferrec et i 0.0

6o i
Other noncunent assets 0.0 Her .

Totalassels $99.4
UARBIITIES AD EQUNTY
Accounts payable 01 $3445 § 98 $ 575 43008 Sioia
Accrupd liabilities 4.5 27.2 (0.8 37.4 0.0 6583
Total é}ff@ﬁ{,?iﬁb%i’iiiﬁs 4.6 3717 9.0 949 {3088 104
Long-term debt 0.0 400:8 0.0 89.0 (167,77 302
thetlongterm fiabilities 0.0 1165 25 32.0 0.0 1510

Total %%aéiiéxées 4.6 889.0 1.5 195.9 @775 6235
Koppers shareholders' squity 948 4031y 4184 181.0 (19680 048

mtrolling interests : 0.0 0.0 0.0 124 R0
ties and equity , ’, 9994 $4859 ) : 5(6738) $7307




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Domestic
Guarantor — Non-Guarantor  Consolidating
Parent  Koppers Inc Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments.  Consolidated
(Doflars in miftions) o
Cash provided by {used in) operating activities $260 $505 $0.0 $21.100.85019.8) $77.8
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities: ‘ :
Capital expenditures and acquisitions 0.0 (21.3) 00 (21.6) 0.0 (42.9)
Loan torelated party 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 0:0 2.2
Net cash proceeds. (payments) from divestitures and.asset -
sales 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.8
Net cashiused in investing activities 0.0 (20.9) 0.0 (19.0) 0.0 (39.9)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities:
‘Repaymerits of long=term debt 0.0 (6.4) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.4)
Deferred financing costs 0.0 .n 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
Dividends paid (195  (19.8) 00 0.0 9.8 (19.5)
Stock repurchased (6.5) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.6)
Other financing receipts 0.0 1.6 0.0 3.7 0.0 5.3
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (26.0)  (24.8) 0.0 3.7 19.8 (27.3)
Effect of exchange rates oncash 0:0 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Net increasein cash and cash equivalents 0:0 4:8 0:0 78 00 126
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 00 § 00 0.0 $54.1 0.0 $54.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 00 § 48 0.0 $619 00  $66.7
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Domestic
S Guarantor Non-Guarantor: - Consolidating
Parent . Koppers Inc<Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustrents. - Consolidated
(Dollars-in millions) ‘ : Rty ;
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities $18.1 0 $095 - 0500 $49:3 $0.0 $76.9
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
Capital expenditures and acquisitions 0.0 (24.5) 0.0 9.3) 0.0 (33.8)
Loan to related party 0.0 0.0 0.0 (11.7) 0.0 (117
Net cash proceeds from divestitures and asset sales 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.8
Net cash used in investing activities 0.0 (23.8) 0.0 (20.9) 0.0 (44.7)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities:
Borrowings (repayments) of long-term debt 0.0 6.3 0.0 (0.9) 0.0 5.4
Deferred financing costs 0.0 0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.5)
Dividends paid (18.1) 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 (18.2)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (18.1) 58 0.0 (1.0) 0.0 (13.3)
Effect of exchange rates on cash 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.2) 0.0 0.1
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 0.0 (8.4) 0.0 27.2 0.0 18.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0.0 8.4 0.0 26.9 0.0 35.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 00 $ 00 0.0 $54.1 0.0 $54.1




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

5
Guarantor

Nor
Parerit Koppersing Subsidiaties

Cashprovidad by used in) operating @ Lz,v $187  $752 £0.0 $159 $4:5) $105.3
Cashoroviged by (used inj investing activities: .

LCapital expenditures and acquisitions 0.0 {35.0) 0.0 B304 0.0

et cash proceeds from divestitures and asset sales 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.8 200

Net castiused in-investing activities 0.0 (34.8) 0.0 (286) 0.0 B34
Cashy fed by {used in) financing activities:

R rients of iong-term debt 0.0 (40.2) 00 06 0:0 )

Deferred financing costs 0.0 (0.4) G:0 Q.0 a0 )

Div 5 paid (18.1) (4.5) 00 (B0 B RB)

Stock issued (repurchased) 0.8) 0.2 0.0 )

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (18.9) (449) 00 (5.0) s "\M )
Effect of exchange rates on cash 0.0 0.0 0.0 if) 7 ) 0.0 0.7
MEt dacrease %{i/{ash and cash equivalents (0. 4.5) 0.0 (38 4‘ : 0.0 PE

Tand-cash equivalents 8t beginning: of vear 0.2 12.9 0.0 453 (0 S84
Cash and £ash eguivalenis at end of period 0.0 %584 0.0 4269 9.0 353

23. S&bﬁsdiary Guaram@r Information for Shelf Registration

registration statement on Form 53, Koppers Holdings may sell a combination af securitiss, including comman stock,
ities, preferred stock, depository shares, warrants and units, from time to time in one or more offerings. Inaddition,
may sell-debt securities from fime- 1o time undertt istration statement. Debt securities may ba fully and

ally guaranteed, on ajoint and several hasis, by Komef rs Holdings, Koppers Ing andfor other guarantor subsidiaries
‘espond to certain subsidiaries in the United States, Europe and Australia which are 100 percent owned by either
Koppers H or:Koppers.Inc. The non-guarantor subsidiaries consist of certain subsidiaries in-the United States, China,lntlia
i Ma darantor subsidiaries that issue guarantees, it any, will be determined when a debt offering actually occurs
under the registration statement and-accordingly, the condensed consolidated financial information for subsidiary quarantors:
will be revised to identify the subsidiaries that actually provided guarantees.

i
e
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Separate condensed consolidating financial statement information for.the parent, Koppers Inc, -domestic guarantor subsidiarie
foreign guarantor subsidiaries and non-guarantor subsidiaries as of D@cembw 3 2012 and 2011 and for the years ended
Decemnber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 is as follows. Certain amounts have been reclassified in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 to reflect affiliated dividends and

affillated interest incorne:

Condensed Consciida/ting Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Foreign

Consolidating

s Gt or  Non-Guarantor

Parent™  Koppersine  Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments: . Consolidated
(Dollars in millions) Y
Net sales $ 0.0 $8932 $97.5  $480.0 $158.6 $(74:3) 51,5550
Cost of sales including depreciation and
. samortization: 0.0 786.6 78.0 414.6 1476 (74.0) 1,352.8
Selling, general and administrative 1.6 45.1 2.1 23.4 3.4 00 .. 756
Operating profit (loss) (1.6) 615 17.4 42.0 7.6 (0:3) 1266
Other income (expense) 66.6 0.2 6.0 0.0 0.7 (71.6) 1.9
Interest expense (income) 0.0 272 B 39 1.9 0o 279
Income taxes (0.8) 8.7 12.5 105 2.2 0.0 333
Income from continuing operations 65.6 258 16.0 27.6 4.2 (71.9) 67.3
Discontinued operations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 (D)
Noncontrolling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 1.6
Net income attributable to Koppers $65.6 % 258  $160 % 275 $ 26 $(719 $ 656
Comprehensive income attributable to Koppers $73.7 4298  $178 § 302 $ 28 $@8o6 $ 737
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Domestic Foreign
Guarantor Guarantor  Non-Guarantar  Consolfidating

Parent  Koppers inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Adjustments Consalidated
(Dollars in mitlions)
Net sales $ 0.0 $854.1 $72.6  $4436 $147.0 $(51.1)  $1,466.2
Cost of sales including depreciation and

amortization 0.0 762.9 55.0 364.2 138.2 (51.1) 1,269.2

Selling, general and administrative 1.2 416 1.8 262 35 0.0 743
Operating profit (Joss) (1.2 496 15.8 53.2 5.3 0.0 122.7
Other income (expense) 37.7 0.1 8.1 0.0 05 (45.7) 0.7
Interest expense {income) 0.0 27.3 (5.4) 4.7 0.6 0.0 27.2
Income taxes (0.4) 7.7 0.8 28.7 1.9 0.0 38.7
Income from continuing operations 36.9 14.7 28.5 19.8 3.3 (45.7) 57.5
Discontinued operations 0.0 0.0 0.0 (19.9) 0.0 0.0 (19.9)
Noncontrolling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.7
Net income attributable to Koppers $36.9 $ 147 $285 % (0.1 0§ 26 $457) $ 369
Comprehensive income attributable to Koppers $18.9 § 1.1 $280 % 5.1 % 35 $27.5 % 189




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cwmpmh@nmva iﬁcom@
For the Year Ended December B*i 20?0 '

Forelgn .
Susrantar T NOR-Guarantor
s Subsicariss

Parartt Koppees Ing Consalidiagd

fhiaftars in mitionsy

Net sdles $ 0.0 $7212 %458 $3585  $1059 $40.9r $1,190.5
Caist of sales including depreciation and emn e :
amortization 0.0 657.7 325 7855 954 Wi Koo
Selling, general and administrative 1.6 32.2 3.3 214 3.9 00 624
Operating profit (loss) (1.6 313 100 516 56 02 981
Otherincome (expense) 45.0 0.0 8.0 1.8 11 (53.4) 2.5
interest expense (income) , O.2)00 277 (5.0) 4.3 0.3 0.0 A
Incomie taxes (0.5) 1.5 12.2 13:3 il 288
Co4ar 21 108 3580 50 (530 d4e
ied operat 0.0 0:0 (0.2) Ol 00 o
Nohcontro img interests : 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 D04
Net income attributable to Koppers $441 5 21 0 %106 $359  $- 46  §(532) § 441
Comprehentiveincome atiributable 10 Koppers P46 B 1B $18O  $403 § 51 $66.1) 5 546




Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2012

Domestic Foreign
Guarantor Guarantor  Non-Guarantor  Consalidating
Parent . Koppers Inc.  Subsidiaries  Subsidiaties Subsidiaries Adjustments  Consolidated
{Gollars.in millions)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 00 % 48 % 00 §$ 407 $ 212 § 00 §$ 667
Receivables, net 659 915 3249 659 212 (346.1) 1643
Inventories, net 0.0 1022 0.0 86.7 7.2 (03) 1958
Deferred tax assets 0.0 16.4 (1.5) 0.0 0.2 0.0 15,
Other current assets 0.0 6.4 2.8 17.6 12.5 0.0 39.3
Total clrrent assets 6.9 2213 326.2 2109 62.3 (346:4) 481.2
qu.nﬁty investments 148.7 771 27.3 30.2 3.8 (28& 3) 5.8
Prbbe:ﬁ‘cy, plant and equipment, net 0.0 105.7 0.0 40.7 14.7 0.0 1611
Goodwill 00 398 0.0 344 14 00 756
Deferred tax assets 00 335 (124) 76 (1.5) 00 272
Other noncurrent assets 0.0 158  126.7 12.1 40.3 (165.8) 291
Total assets $155:6. $4932 $467.8 33359 $121.0 $(793.5) $780.0
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY :
Accounts payable $ 01 $371.7 $17.0 $422 $ 186  $(346.1) $1035
Accrued liabilities 4.9 15.9 12.2 357 9.0 0.0 77.7
Total current liabilities 50 3876 29.2 779 276 (3461 181.2
Long-term debt 0.0 3976 0.0 64.4 0.0 (165.9) 296.1
Other long-term liabilities 0.0 101.2 2.4 245 6.5 0.0 134.6
Total liabilities 50 8864 316 1668 34.1 (51200 6119
Koppers shareholders’ equity 150.6 ° (393.2) 4362 169.1 69.4 (281.5) 150.6
Noncontrolling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 175 0.0 17.5
$780.0

“Total liabilities and equity

$155.6

§4932 $467.8  $3359  $121.0  $(793.5)




Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2011

won-Guarartor
Stibsiiares

Farent Koppesing

ASSETS
Cash and rash équivalents $00 % 00 $ 00 $451° % 90 % 00
Recelvables, nat b 112:6 284.0 655 137 (309.8)
nwventories, Higt 0.0 748 0.0 77.2 7.0 g.0
{tax.assets 0.0 0.7 (1.5 0.0 0.1 0.0
fent assets 0.0 6.8 0.3 120+ 144 0.0
tent dssets 55 2049 2828 1998 442308
Eguity investments , 93:8. ¢ 77 26.3 193¢ 39 2 15.6)
Property, plant and equipment, net , 0.0 1020 0.0 378 158 00
Goodwill . , ‘ 00~ 398 00 310 13 00
Deterred tax dssets 0.0, 437 (10.5) 12.7 {1:6) 00
Other noncurrent assels 0:0 184 1313 e (67.7)
Totalassats i $99.4 4 4859 $429:94307.3 - $1013 0 $(693.1)
LIABILITIES ANDEQUITY
Accounts pavable $ 0.1 43445 ¢ 98 ¢ 444 $13.2 $309.8) 51021
Accrued apiitias 45 D {08y 385 g G B b8 4

Total current Labilities 46 3717 90 749 201 (3099 170

Long-term debt 0.0 4008 00 627 63 . (1617) 3021
Other 0.0 65 25 258 6.1 04 1

46 889.0 11.5 163:.4 32.5 (4775 3.

areholders’ equity 948 (403.) 4184 1439 564 (2156) 94

inter ' 00 00 0.0 0.0 124 0n

994 4850 94200 $3073 41013 $(69

Koppers &t
Noncontiolliy

“Total il
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows'
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Damestic’ Foreign

Guarantor Guarantor — Non-Guarantor  Consolidating
Parent  Koppersinc,  Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries Subsidiaties Adjustments  Consolidated
{Dollars in millions) y .
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 260 % 505 $0.0 $14.2 $ 6.9  $(19.8) $77.8
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
Capital expenditures and-acquisitions 0.0 (21.3) 0.0 211 (O0.5): 0.0 4429
Loan to related party 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.0 22
Net cash proceeds from-divestitures and asset
sales 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 .. . 0.0 0.8
Net cash provided by (used in) investing i
activities ] 0.0 (20°9) 0.0 (20:7) 177 0.0 (39.9)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities: :
Repayments of long-term debt 0.0 (6.4) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6:4)
Deferred financing costs 0.0 (0.7) 0.0 0.0 a0 0:0 0.1
Dividends paid (195 (19.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0: 19.8 (19.5)
Stock repurchased (6:5) (01 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (6.6)
Other financing receipts 0.0 1.6 0.0 0.0 3.7 0.0 5.3
Net cash provided by (used in) financing S
activities (26.0) (248 0.0 0.0 37198 (273)
Effect of exchange rates on cash 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1 0.1 0.0 2.0
Netincrease (decréase)in cash and cash A
equivalents 0.0 4.8 0.0 4.4 122 Gk 12:6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0.0 0.0 0.0 45.1 9.0 0.0 5 =544
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 00 -3 48 $0.0 $40.7 $21.2 $-00 - $667
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011
Domestic Foreign kg
Guarantor Guarantar. . Non-Guarantor Consolidating
Parent  Koppers inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidlaries Subsidiaries Adjustments::  Consolidater
(Dollars i millions)
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities $181 % 95 $0.0 $37.9 $11.4 $0.0 $76.9
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
Capital expenditures and acquisitions 0.0 (24.5) 0.0 (8.6) (0.7) 0.0 (33:8)
Loan to related party 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (117 0.0 11.7)
Net cash proceeds from divestitures and asset
sales 0.0 0.7 0.0 01 0.0 0.0 0.8
Net cash:used ininvesting activities 0.0 (23.8) 0.0 (8.5) (12.4) 0.0 (44.7)
Cash provided by (Used in) finanding activities: )
Borrowings (repayments) of long-term debt 0.0 63 0.0 (0.9) 00. 00 54
Deferred financing costs 0.0 (0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 05
Dividends paid 18.n 0.0 0.0 0.0 ©.mn 0.0 (18.2)
Net cash provided by (used in} financing
activities (18.1) 58 0.0 0.9 o 0.0 (13.3)
Effect.of exchange rates on cash. 00Ol 0.0 0.4) 0.2 0.0 0.0
Net increase (decrease)in cash and cash e iy : G
~ equivalents . 0.0 (8.4) 0.0 28.1 (0.9) 0.0 18.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 00 84 00 170 9.9 0.0 353

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 00 $ 00 $00  $451  $ 90 $0.0 $54.1




Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows®
For the Year Ended December 31, 2010
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Pegint Cor
b orovided by (used in) operating activities a7 5752 $0.0 $9t 888 o BEEL o BI0B R
Cash provided by (used: iny investing activities: :
Capitalexpenditures and acguisitions 0.0 (35.10) 0.0 (306, w4 0.0 {65:4)
Netcosh proceeds Trom divestitures and asset
Sa105 0.0 0.2 0.0 w7 01 a.0 20
hrsed ininvesting activities 0.0 {34.8) 0.0 (28.3):0. 483 00. . (634
Cashg sl by (used inyHinancing activities: : S
Repayments of long-term debt 0.0 (41.2) 0.0 0.0 00 0 0
Dieferred financing costs 6:0 ol 0.0 0.0 0:0 G
Dividends paid {(18.1) (4.5 0.0 0.0 (5.0) R (}23’.3}
Stock égs&éﬁ ,{%Epuf‘{:‘mmé} ; 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 o)
; (18.9 (44.9) 0.0 0.0 {(5.0) LAs
Effect of exchange rates on cash 0.0 0.0 0.0 ©.7) 00 00
Netincrease {decrease) in tashand cash
{-:sq&.;iwieais 0. {45 0.0 49:9; 15 0.0
Cash 8 el {asé eqt%vaiems at begiming} ofyear 0. 129 0.0 36.9 &4 0.0
Casheand cash eag valents at end:ol period § 00§ B4 $0.0 $17.0 $9.9 . 500

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS (}N ﬁQC@UN?!NG AND
ANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None,

URES

HEW G4 CONTROLS AND PROUCED
(el Fualyation of Disclesure Controls.and Brocedures

Our r“aﬁagemeﬁ?’mmh the participation of our chiefexecutive officer and-chiaf fmenc | ctficer, have evaluated the
effecliveness of our disclosure controls and procedies, -as defined in'Rules 13a<15(eyand iS{dﬁiSie) of the'Securitios Excnange
tof 1934, a5 of the'end of the petiod coversd | >y this report. Based on that evaluation. our {H%Qf executive officer and ot '3‘§
financial officer have condluded that these controls ahd procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
oot

i) Changes-nternal Control Over-Financial Report ing

Th
have 1

At changes in our internal control over finandial reporting that occurred during our most recent ﬁscaqumvw that
ally affected, or are mmcmab!y likely to matc*rmﬂy affect, our internal control over financial repuiting,

Sea Manatie ent Repor rcm page 39 Mr rmrmqwmem’» annual ref mrt on internal control over financial reporting. See R@pmtof
ntlependent Reg istered Public Atcou "xtnm Firm on page 41 for krmt & Young LL?gatte tation report on internal wmmiw@ ,
Haantislreporting. - , B il B



ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 25, 2013, Koppers Inc. entered into an employment agreement (the "Agreement”) with Walter W. Turner. The
Agreement provides that Mr. Turner will serve as President and Chief Executive Officer of Koppers Inc. Mr. Turner has served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of Koppers Inc. since February 1998. The term of the Agreement commences with
retroactive effect toJanuary 1, 2013 and continues until December 31, 2014. The Agreement establishes an initial minimum
base salary of $757,500, increasing to a minimum base salary of $807,500 on April 1, 2013, and thereafter | is subject to
periodic review by the board of directors. The Agreement provides that Mr. Turnet is entitled to participate in the Koppers
Corporate Senior Management incentive Plan-and the Koppers Holdings Inc. 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended-and
restated (“LTIP"). With respect to awards previously made to Mr. Tumer under the 2012 LTIP with a vesting period ending
December 31, 2014, the Agreement provides that such awards will be modified so that Mr. Turner will be eligible o receive the
full number of shares and options under such awards even if his employment terminates for specified reasons prior to
December 31, 2014, The Agreement makes similar provision for awards that were granted in 2013 and may be granted in 2014
under the LTIP. Under the Agreement; the terms of outstanding stock options held by Mr. Tarner will be modified to extend the
post-termination exercise period from three years to five years, subject to certain limitations: In the event of termination of:-Mr.
Turner's employment by the Company other than for cause, Mr, Turner will be entitled to receive his base salary through
Decernber 31, 2014, ' e ' i

The Agr@@ment contains provisions for certain beﬁems comparabfe tothose prevmusiy provided under the Company's change
in control agreement with Mr. Turner as in effect before he reached-age 65, that become payable it one of the follawmg events
aceurs within two years after a change in control has'occurred.

s Mr. Turner is requiféd o reiocate his primary office to a location greater than fifty miles from the then current location
of his office; or )

e Mr. Turner’s employment is terminated other than for cause or disability.

The benefits to which Mr. Turner would be entitled in the event of a termination of his employment under the above-specified
conditions following a change in controlinclude:

o all of Mr Turner's accrued salary to the date of termination

¢ g pro-rata bonus for the year in which the termination occurs equal to the average of the of the bonus payments
awarded for the previous two years;

¢ alump sum payment equal to twice the sum of (i) Mr. Turner's base salary and (i) one half of the amounts awarded to
Mr, Turner under applicable incentive plans and bonus for each of the preceding two years,

o all reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by Mr. Turner as a result of his termination, subject to certain specified
exceptions,

« life, disability, accident and group health benefits (or the monetary equivalent of such beneﬁts) for twa yesara or until
Mr. Turner receives comparable benefits from a third party; and

s continued indemnification for pre-termination acts and omissions.

The payments and benefits to which Mr. Turner would be entitled in the event he is terminated after a change in control will
also be reduced as necessary to cause the total payments.and " parachute payments” (as defined in the tax code) to comply
with the limitation set forth in Section 280G of the tax code.




PART I
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The »Hmexa'{iGﬁ reguired by item 4071 of Regulation S5-I with respect fo directors is contained in-our definitive Proxy Statement
forour 2013 Ann u&i Meeting of Shareholders (the " Proxy Staterent”) which we will file With the Securities and Excl hange
Commission, mzrsuam fo Regulation 144, not later thart 120 days after the end ot the Lampary"ﬁ fiscal year under the caption
"Proxy itemn 1 Propasal fof Blaction of Directors”, and 15 incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by thisiter concarming sl executive otlicers isincorporated by referance herainrom Part ol ihis
rephrturider “Executive Officers of the Camipany”™ : FE 7

Sux
e

ation required by ltem 405 of Regulation 5-K s indluded in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Section 16(c

hen ﬁ o
: andiis incorporated herein by reference:

Dwnership Reporting Complianc

nation required by ltern:-407(d N4y and Hemdodi5 )y of Reégulation Sk isincluded inthe:Proxy Statement under the
caption “Board Meetings and Committees” and s incorporated herein by reference. : Sy

idit committee and our board have app’wr@vm and adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for al direc o
officers employses and a Code of Ethics Applicable to Senior Officers, copies of which are available on our website at
wiwwskoppers.com and upon-wiitten request by our shareholders at no cost: Requests should be sent to Koppers Heoldings ine,
Attention: Corporste Secretary’s Office, 436:-Saventh Avenue Suite 1550, Bittsburgh; Pennsylvania 15219, We will describe the
date and nature of any amendment to our u;\,i@ of Business Conductand Ethics or Code of Ethics Applicable 1o Senior Ofticers
grdimplicit-or explict) from:a provision-of our Code oFBusingss Conduct and Ethics or Code of Ethics t\pm ableto
ers within four business daysf ’w ing the date of the amendment or walver on our lnternet \N@bs te g

dto incorporate the conternts of our website into-this report.

OF Iy

Senior O

vy koppeia.com. We do not inten

FTEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by ltem 11 s contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Bxecutive Compensation and
ommities Reports to Sharehold %h agement Development and Compensation Commities Report” and is incorparated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12: SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information reguired by tem 12 ic, sontained Part Il ttem 5 ot this report under "Equity Compensation Plans” “mi i the
Proxy Staternent under the caption Comiman Stock Ownership ahd is incorporated-hersn by reference. '

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE
fhe information required by ltem 13 Is contained in the Prody: Staternent under the caption " Transactionswith
w% e Corporate C{werf}ai e Mat ters - Director Independence” and is incorporated herein by referenice,

o

ied Persons

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

on reduired by ftem 14 isccontained In the Proxy Statement under the caption “Auditors” and-is incorporated

serence,
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Financial Statements

Financial statements filed as part of this report are included in-"ftem 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” as listed
on the index on page 38.

(a) 2. Financial Statement Schedules

“Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves is included on page 90, All other schedules are omitted because
they are not applicable or the required information is contained in the applicable financial statements of notes thereto.

{a) 3. Exhibits




EXHIBIT INDEX

Extubit Mo

21 of Koppers (langsw) Carbon Lhermaf Company
iv*mte e pers Internal (é Yizhou Group Company Limited dated
September 10,2012 srated byre toexhibit 2 bt the Csmgan)s s Quarterly Report
o Farm 101 eraber 9y ‘

3.1 Amended and Rest corparationof the € a}mpaﬂy (incorporated: bxx reference to
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Employment agreer @ 5\"%«\ dated Cctober 13, 2003 (incorporated by reference
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10.32 Amendmentand Restaterient to Article ViFofith 63 Asset Purchase Agreament by antd between
Koppers Inc. and Beazer East, Inc., dated July 15, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33
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‘ fﬁ %tm Unit Plan (incorporated b\/ reference to Exhibit 10.34 1o the Koppers inc.
atter ended September 30, 2004).




Exhibit No.

IDETS MO

£xt ibit

10.34

10.36*
10.37*
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10.44*
10.45
10.48
10.49

10.50

10.51%
10.52%
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© Agreementiand Plan of Merger dated as of November 18,2004, by and among Koppers Inc.,

Merger Sub for Ki Inc. and Koppers Holdings Inc. (t/k/a K Holdings Inc.) (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.34 to the Koppers Holdings inc. (f/k/a KI Holdings Inc:) Registration Statement on Form
S=4 filed February 14, 2005). :

Form of Change in Control Agreement entered into as of October 20, 2005 between Koppers
Holdings Inc. (f/k/a Kl Holdings Inc.) and certain executive offiters (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 101 to the Company's Current Report on Forrm 8-K fited ot October 25, 2005).
Amended and Restated 2005 Long Term Iriceritive Plari (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to
the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders filed on
March 31, 2010). ,
Asset Purchase Agreement dated April 28, 2006 between Reilly Industries, Inc. and Koppers Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
April 28, 2006).

Form of Amendment to Change in Control Agreement eritered into as of May 25, 2006 between
the Company and the named Executive (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current,
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 26, 2006). o R o

Joint Venture Contract in relation to the establishment of Tangshan Koppers Kailuan Carbon
Chemical Co., LTD, among Kailuan Clean Coal Company Limited, Koppers Mauritius, and Tangshan
lron & Steel Co,. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Koppers Holdings Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 20086),

Koppers Holdings Inc, Benefit Restoration Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2007).

Purchase Agreement dated as of August 3, 2008 by and among Koppers Inc., Carbon Investments,
inc., and ArcelorMittal S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form.10-Q filed on November 6, 2008),

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Koppers Inc., the Guarantors party
thereto, the Lenders party thereto, PNC Capital Markets LLC and RBS Greenwich Capital as Co-Lead
Arrangers: PNC Capital Markets LLC, Banc of America Securities LLC and RBS Greenwich Capital, as
Joint Bookrunners; PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent; Bank of America, N.A.,
as Documentation Agent; and Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, First Commonwealth Bank and Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agents, dated as of October 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10,50 of the Company’s Annual Report.on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2009 filed on February 19, 2010): , : L L %

Koppers Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan | (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.51
of the Company’s Annual Report on Form:10-K for the year ended December 31,2008 filed on
February 20,2009):

Koppers Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.52
of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed on
February 20, 2009).

Amendment to Employment Agreement with Steven R Lacy effective as ofJanuary 1, 2009
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.53 of the Cormpany’s Arinual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2008 filed on February 20, 2009).

Amendmient to Employment Agreement with Brian H. McCurrie effective as of January 1, 2009
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.54 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2008 filed on February 20, 2009y,

Amendment to Koppers Holdings Inc. Benefit Restoration Plan effective as of January 1, 2009
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.55 of the-Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2008 filed on February 20, 2009). ©

Amendment to the Employee Savings Plan of Koppers Inc. and Subsidiaries effective as of January 1,
2008 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.56 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the year ended December 31, 2008 filed on February 20, 2009).
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Amendment tothe Retirement Plan for Koppers Inc. effective January 1, 2008 (ncorporated by
reference to exhibit 1067 of the Company's Annual Report on Form ‘i{H\ for the year ended

December 31, 2008 filed on February 20, 2009).

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit z\gm@m@ri by am:f among Koppers-inc.; the
Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, PNC Capital Markets LLC and RBS Gr ﬁw wWich
Capital -as Joint Bookrunners: PNC Bank, | \im@mi Association; as Administrative Agent; Bank of
America, N.A-as Documentation Agent; and Citizens Bank of Pennsylvania, First Commonwealth
Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agents, dated as of November 18, 2009
{incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.58 of the Company 's Annual Re;zor% on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2009 filed on February 19, 2010). :
Semior Management Corporate Incentive Plan (incor ;;Grm@d by reference m Exhibit 10,6010 the
Cﬂmﬁamf s Quarterly Report-on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2010). .
Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to vxh pit 10.61 to the Company’s.Quarterly
Report on Form 10:0 filed on qu 5,.2010),

* Resty] ticted Stock Unit Issuance Agreement — Time Vesting.

Restricted Stock Unit Issuance Agreement ~ Performan ce Vesting.

Notice of Grant of Stack Option.

Amendment #2 to Employment Aqme}mmt with Brian H. McCurrie effective May 1, 2010
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the Company’s Arnual Report on Form 10- K For the
year ended December 31, 2010 filed on February 22, 2011). :

Form.of §<up;3{>f< Haldi m;s Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Issuance Agreement Non-Employee Director ~
Time Vestin q {incorporated | by roference 1o Exhibit 10.66 to the Company’s Qﬁasﬁi@rﬁy Report on
Form 10-0 filed on May 5, 2014), g

Letter Agreement dated October 4, 2006 {incorporated i\y reference to Exhib% 1067 to the

Company's Quarter rly Report on Form 10-0 filed onMay 5, 2011).

Summary of Terms and Conditions of Employment ( e p@*ated by reference to Ex fbit e
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 filed on May 5,200 i
Second Amendment to the Credit Agreemient, dated as of February 24, 2010 by and amon ¢
Koppersinc, Koppers Holdi Ings Inc., the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and
PMC Bank, th!OrM Association, as adm nistrative agent (incorporated hy reference to-exhibit 10,69
of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December %3 20071 fileckon
Fehmary 27, 2012);

ug Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2011 by and among Koppers

~Koppers Holdings Inc., the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and PNC Bank,

szt il i\x‘:{)mmzo as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 101 to the
Company's Current Hmo ton Form: 8 Hled on March: 29, 2011
Amendment No. 1 to Change in Control Agreement by and between LeroyMaBall2dr. and the
Cormpany, dated Decermber19; 2012
Amendment No 3 to Change in nfm Agreernent by and between Thomas D msesdmm and the
Company, dated December 19, 2012,

Armendrment No. 2 0B npioy nent Agrearnent with Steven R. Lacy effective December 19, 2012

Arnendment No. 3 to Employment Agreement with Brian-McCurrie effective December 19, 2012,
Employment Agreement i’wtww 1 Koppers Inc. and Walter W, Turner effective January 1, 2013,

+2013 Restricted Stock Unit Issuance Agreement - Time Vesting for Walter W. Turner

043 Restricted Stock U M [ssiiance Agreement = Performance Vesting for Walter W. Turner
2013 Notice of Grant of Stock Option for Walter- W. Turner.
Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges.
List of subsidiaries of the mepmy
Consent of Independent Registered Public A\Lmurmng Firr.

_ettification of Chief M@mtzve Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14(a).
Cettification of Chi @fi“ jal Otficer murwanﬂca Rule 13a- 14(a).
Certification of Chief {w utive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 1350.
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T01.INS XBRL Instance Document -

101.5CH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema:Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation'Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurment
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*  Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.

*%x Fifed herewith.




KOPPERS HOLDINGS INC.

SCHEDULE I} = VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 and 2010

; . At
Balance at Ingrease rites
Eaginping - {Decease) Offs)

Allowance for daubtiul accounts T 032 $32 100 00
$otd 50500 508y 4
$10.2 $.8.8 16 00 5174

Allowance for doubtful accounts 501 303 O $00- § 03
SSCRNCE TEServVes b2 %42 0 549 S000 %

Invanton abse

Deterred taxvaluation allowance P14 B2y $00 %00 5102
2000

Allewance for doubtal accounts 505 03 200 HOTr S04
Inveritary obsolescence reserves 39 0 07 500 SO 820

Deterrad tax valuation allowance $192 302 300 300814




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, Koppers Holdings Inc.
has duly caused this annual report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

KopPERS HOLDINGS INC.

BY:/s/  LEROY M. Ball

Leroy M. Ball
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act-of 1934, as amended, this annual report on Form 10-K has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Stchature Capacity Date
/s/ Davip M. HILLENBRAND Director and Non-Executive Chairman of February 25,2013
David M. Hillenbrand the Board
/57 NNALTER W TURNER Director: President and ChiefExecutive February 25, 2013
Walter W. Turner Officer
/sf Leroy MLBal _ Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 25, 2013
Leroy M. Ball {Principal Financial and Principal

Accounting Officer)
/s/ CYNTHIA A, BALDWIN Director February 25, 2013

Cynthia A: Baldwin

s/ X. SHARON FENG Director i February 25, 2013

X. Sharon Feng

/s/ ALBERT J. NEUPAVER Director February 25, 2013

Albert J. Neupaver

/s Janies C. STALDER Director February 25, 2013

Jarmes C. Stalder

/s/ STEPHEN R. TRITCH Director February 25, 2013
Stephen R. Tritch

/5! T. MICHAEL YOUNG Director February 25, 2013

T. Michael Young



o Exhibit 311

CERTIFICATIONS

FoTurher, certify that:
1. 1have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Koppers Holdings Inc.;

2. Basedon my knowledge, this report-does not contain n.any ur witrde-statement of amaterial fact oromittostate a materal
fact necessary 1o make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which-such statements were made, not
risteadling with fespect to the period covered by this report;

4, strant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclostre controls and
stlares (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15() and 1 5d-15(e)} and mtcnmdi control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(0 and 1 5da15(0) forthe registrant and have

a)  designed such disclosure-controls and procadures, or causet) such disclosure controls-and procediires 1o be desighed
under our supervision, 10 ensure that material information relating to the registrant; includingits cor i;o‘if“ tetl
Subzidiaries; is made-known to us byrothers:withir those entities, particularly diring the period inawhich thisréport s
being prepared; ’

By designed such internal contral over financial reporting, or caused such internal control aver financial reporting to'he
destgned under ol supervision: to previde reasonable assurance regarding the reliability:of finaacial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in agcordance with generally accepted accounting principles:

o) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclostre cantrols and procedures and presentéd in-this report Gur
conclusions.about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the perodcovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

‘med i this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that accurred during the
: most r@cam fiw! quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter inthe case of anannual report) that has
szm&snai aftected, or is reasonabily likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial répoding;

5. Theregistrant's other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal con imi over
fi m*ma% reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or perso
periorming the eguivalent functions):

ar  albsignificant deficienc @swd materisl weaknesses in the design or-operation of internal zontrol over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the redistrant’s ability 1o record; process, summarize and
report financial m‘farmation, and

fraud, whether or not material, thatinvolves management or other employees who have a-significant role i thie
egistrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

i

Date: February 25, 2013

25 N aLTER W TURNER
Walter W Timer
President and Chief Executive Officer



Koppers Holdings inc

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Leroy M. Ball, certify that:
1. I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Koppers Holdings Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; -

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included inthis repart, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented.in this report; ,

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the régistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in whsch this report is
being prepared,

b)  designed such internal control over financial reperting, or caused such internal contral over financialreéporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intérnal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 25, 2013

/s/ LEROY M. BaLL
Leroy M. Ball
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.5.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

i connaction with the Annual Report of Koppers Holdings Inc. (the "Company” ) on Form 10K for the vear ended
Decembar 21, 2012, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”}; each of the
undersigned hereby-cortifies in-his capacity. as-an officer of Xoppers Holdings Inc., pursuant 1o 18 U.5.C Section 1350, a3
adopted pursiant to Séction 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that .

(13 TheReport fuly-complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended:-and

(2) Thein
opera

farmation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and resufts of .
i5 of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, of -
otherwise adopting the signature that appears o typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by
Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 16 the Securties and
Exchange ,Cﬁmm;s/sééﬂ orits statt upon reguest; / :

Jei WarTer W TURNER /el Leroy ML BaLL

VWalter W Tuimer Leray M. Ball

Presidest and Chiel Exaciitive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 25,2013 February 25, 2013



UNAUDITED RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO KOPPERS,
ADJUSTED NET INCOME AND ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Twelve Months Endled
December 31,

2012 2011
{in millions)
Net income attributable to Koppers 5 656 $ 369
ftems impacting pre-tax income
Impairment and closure costs 3.4 -
Sale of technology e 0.9
Total items above impacting pre-tax income 3.4 (0.9
ftems impacting net income, net of tax 2.2 0.7)
Income tax provision for European consolidation 0.8 35
Discontinued operations 0.1 19.9
Adjusted net income $ 687 $ 596
Denominator for diluted earnings per share (000s) 20,927 20,833
Earnings per share:
Diluted earnings per share 13 % 177

W o

3.13
Adjusted earnings per share 3.27 % 2.86

(1} Cost of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 includes 32.8 million of plant closing charges related to our wood treating plant in Grenada,
Mississippi, and depreciation and amortization for the twelve months.ended December 31, 2012 includes 30,6 million:of impairment charges for our co-
generation plant located in Muncy, Pennsylvania. Income taxes for the twelve months ended Déceinber 31,2012 includes $0.8 million of expense related 1o our
EFuropean consolidation project, and income taxes for the twelve months ended December 31, 2071 includes-$3.5 million of expense refated to our European
consolidation project. Cost of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 includes a gain of $0.9 million for the licensing of certain technology in
China. These amounts have been excluded for purposes of calculating adjusted net income.

UNAUDITED RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING PROFIT TO ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
R
(In millions)

Operating profit 1266 $1227

Unusual items impacting operating profit (¥
Impairment and closure costs 3.4 e
Sale of technology — 0.9
Adjusted operating profit $130.0 $121.8

(1} Cost of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 includes $2.8 million of plant closing charges related to our wood treating plant in Grenada,
Mississippi, and depreciation and amortization for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 includes $0.6.miliion of impairment charges for our co-
generation plant focated in Muncy, Pennsylvania. Cost of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 includes a gain of $0.9 million for the licensing
of certain technology in China. These amounts have been excluded for purpuses of calculating adjusted operating profit.
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